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Important information
This registration document (the “Registration Document”) is based on sources such as annual reports and
publicly available information and forward looking information based on current expectations, estimates and
projections about global economic conditions, the economic conditions of the regions and industries that are
major markets for the Company's (including subsidiaries and affiliates) lines of business.
A prospective investor should consider carefully the factors set forth in chapter 1 Risk factors, and elsewhere in
the Prospectus, and should consult his or her own expert advisers as to the suitability of an investment in the
bonds.
This Registration Document is subject to the general business terms of the Joint Lead Managers, available at
their respective websites (www.danskebank.no, www.dnb.no, www.nordea.no, www.pareto.no and
www.swedbank.no).
Joint Lead Managers and/or affiliated companies and/or officers, directors and employees may be a market
maker or hold a position in any instrument or related instrument discussed in this Registration Document, and
may perform or seek to perform financial advisory or banking services related to such instruments. The Joint
Lead Managers' corporate finance department may act as manager or co-manager for this Company in private
and/or public placement and/or resale not publicly available or commonly known.
Copies of this Registration Document are not being mailed or otherwise distributed or sent in or into or made
available in the United States. Persons receiving this document (including custodians, nominees and trustees)
must not distribute or send such documents or any related documents in or into the United States.
Other than in compliance with applicable United States securities laws, no solicitations are being made or will be
made, directly or indirectly, in the United States. Securities will not be registered under the United States
Securities Act of 1933 and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable
exemption from registration requirements.
The distribution of this Registration Document may be limited by law also in other jurisdictions, for example in
Canada, Japan and in the United Kingdom. No measures have been taken to obtain authorisation to distribute
this Registration Document in any jurisdiction where such action is required other than Norway. Persons that
receive this Registration Document are ordered by the Company and the Joint Lead Managers to obtain
information on and comply with such restrictions.
The Norwegian FSA has controlled and approved this Registration Document pursuant to the Norwegian
Securities Trading Act, sections § 7-7 and 7-8. The Norwegian FSA has not controlled and approved the
accuracy or completeness of the information given in this Registration Document. The control and approval
performed by the Norwegian FSA relates solely to descriptions included by the Company according to a predefined list of content requirements. The Norwegian FSA has not undertaken any kind of control or approval of
corporate matters described in or otherwise covered by this Registration Document. This Registration Document
was approved by the Norwegian FSA on 22 September 2015.
This Registration Document together with the Securities Note constitutes the Prospectus.
The content of the Prospectus does not constitute legal, financial or tax advice and potential investors should
seek legal, financial and/or tax advice.
Unless otherwise stated, the Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law. In the event of any dispute regarding the
Prospectus, Norwegian law will apply.

The capitalised words used in the section "Important Information" and elsewhere in this Registration Document
are defined in Chapter 2: "Definitions".
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1.

Risk factors

1.1

General

Investing in Bonds issued by the Company involves inherent risks. As the Company is the parent company of
the Group and primarily a holding company, the risk factors for Höegh LNG and the Group are deemed to be
equivalent for the purpose of this Registration Document. Prospective investors should consider, among other
things, the risk factors set out in the Prospectus before making an investment decision. An investment in bonds
are suitable only for investors who understand the risk factors associated with this type of investment and who
can afford a loss of all or part of the investment. If any of the following risks actually occurs, the Company’s
business, financial position and operating results could be materially and adversely affected. The Company
believes that the factors described below represent the material risks inherent in investing in the Company.
Occurrence of the risk factors described below may cause inability of Höegh LNG to pay interest, principal or
other amounts on or in connection with the Bonds. The Company’s risk exposure is analyzed and evaluated to
ensure sound internal control and appropriate risk management based on the Company’s values, policies and
code of ethics.
As the parent company in the Group, the primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure
adequate capital ratios in order to support on-going operations, business development activities, capital
expenditures and maximizing shareholder value within the Group.

1.2

Risks relating to the Group and the industry in which the Group operates

The Company has five FSRUs in operation that are on long term contracts and therefore not exposed to
variations in demand for FSRU services. Of the three FSRUs under construction the first has secured a long
term FSRU contract, with start-up second half 2016. The remaining two FSRUs are due for delivery first quarter
2017 and first quarter 2018, respectively; one of the vessels will most likely be employed for a long term contract
in Chile, whilst the second FSRU has not yet secured an FSRU contract and is therefore exposed to changes in
demand for FSRUs. FSRUs are increasingly the preferred solution for countries developing LNG import
infrastructure, as this is a less capital intensive, quicker to build and more flexible solution compared to landbased terminals. Most of the demand for FSRUs comes from countries experiencing rapid economic growth,
notably in Asia and South America. There are currently more than 30 potential FSRU projects worldwide, and
the Company is participating in several on-going tender processes.
All of the Company’s LNG Carriers are on term contracts with creditworthy counterparties and not exposed to
short-term variations in the demand for LNG transportation.
The Company is also seeking to obtain long-term agreements for its FLNG solutions. In the event that the
Company is unable to secure a long-term contract for an FLNG unit, the value of the engineering and design
work recognised in the Group’s balance sheet may be impaired.
Operational risk
The Company assumes operational risks associated with loading, transporting, off-loading, storing and
regasifying cargoes, which can cause delays to the Company’s operations. In addition, difficulties due to port
constraints, weather conditions, and vessel compatibility and performance can affect the results of operations
and expose the Company to adverse economic consequences.
Financial risk
The Company is in the ordinary course of its business exposed to different types of financial risk, including
market risk (interest and foreign exchange rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
Interest risk
All interest bearing debt within the Company is subject to floating interest rates, however, the Company has
entered into fixed interest rate swaps for all material debt facilities. The Company is therefore not exposed to
fluctuations in interest rate levels on existing debt facilities to any material extent.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risks arise from business transactions, capitalized assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than the reporting currency of the Company. The majority of the Company’s business
transactions, capitalized assets and liabilities are denominated in USD and the Company is therefore only
to a limited extent exposed to foreign exchange risks.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to fulfil its financial obligations when they fall due.
Existing financial obligations on the balance sheet totaling USD 683 million will be repaid through the cash
flow generated from existing and new assets within the Company. All existing vessels subject to debt financing
have secured long-term time charter contracts, save for one FSRU under construction.
As of 31 December 2014, the Company had USD 515 million in remaining off-balance sheet capital
commitment relating to the FSRU newbuilding program, against USD 447 million in cash, current
restricted cash, marketable securities and available drawing under debt facilities.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. Existing vessels/FSRUs are chartered out to creditworthy
counterparties/projects in the energy sector with an appropriate credit rating, and charter hires are payable
monthly in advance or in arrears. Cash funds are only deposited with internationally recognized financial
institutions with a high credit rating, or invested in marketable securities issued by companies with investment
grade rating.
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2.

Definitions

Company/Parent company/
Höegh LNG

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd., an exempted limited liability company
organized under the laws of Bermuda and subject to the Bermuda
Companies Act.

Company Annual Report 2014

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. annual report of 2014

Company Annual Report 2013

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. annual report of 2013

Bye-Laws

Bye-Laws of the Company, as amended and currently in effect

Bond Issue

Means the bond issue constituted by the Bonds

Bonds

Means the securities issued by the Company pursuant to the bond
agreement dated 3 June 2015 entered into between the Company
and the Nordic Trustee ASA

Company Board or Company
Board of Directors
Company Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Board of Directors of the Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

The consolidated financial statements and notes included in the
Company’s annual report to the shareholders.

EEA

European Economic Area

EU

European Union

FLNG

Floating LNG Production

FSRU

A Floating Storage and Regasification Unit

Group

The Company and its subsidiaries and joint ventures from time to
time

HHI

Hyundai Heavy Industries Co. Ltd.

IAS

International Accounting Standards

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union

NOK

Norwegian kroner

Prospectus

This Registration Document together with the Securities Note
constitutes the Prospectus

Registration Document

This registration document dated 22 September 2015

SHI

Samsung Heavy Industries Co. Ltd.

USD

United States Dollars

VPS or VPS System

The Norwegian Central Securities Depository, Verdipapirsentralen
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3.

Persons responsible

3.1

Persons responsible for the information

Persons responsible for the information given in this Registration Document are:
Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd., Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, HM12 Hamilton, Bermuda.

3.2

Declaration by persons responsible
Responsibility statement:

This Registration Document has been prepared by Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. in connection with the issue of
Bonds and any investment therein. We confirm that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the
information contained in this Registration Document, to the best of our knowledge, is in accordance with the
facts and contain no omission likely to affect its import.

Bermuda, 22 September 2015

For Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.

____________________________
Sveinung Støhle
President and CEO
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4.

Statutory Auditors

4.1

Names and addresses

The Company's auditor is Ernst & Young AS, with registered address:
Name

Ernst & Young AS

Address

Dronning Eufemias gate 6, NO-0154 Oslo
Oslo Atrium, P. O. Box 20, NO-0051 Oslo

Telephone

+47 24 00 24 00

Fax

+47 24 00 24 01

The Company’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013
have been audited by Ernst & Young.
Ernst & Young AS is an independent registered public accounting firm and a member of the Norwegian Institute
of Public Accountants (No.: Den Norske Revisorforening).
Ernst & Young AS has not audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other information provided in this
Registration Document.
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5.

Information about the issuer

5.1

History and development of the issuer

5.1.1

Legal and commercial name

The legal name of the Bond Issuer is Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. with the commercial name Höegh LNG.

5.1.2

Place of registration and registration number

The Company is an exempted limited company domiciled and incorporated in Bermuda with the registration
number 39152.

5.1.3

Date of incorporation

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. was incorporated on 6 November 2006.

5.1.4

Domicile and legal form

The Company is an exempted limited liability company organized under the laws of Bermuda and subject to the
Bermuda Companies Act. Certain aspects of the Company’s activities are governed by Norwegian law pursuant
to the listing agreement between Oslo Børs (the Oslo Stock Exchange) and the Company. In particular, the
Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the Norwegian Stock Exchange Regulations will apply.
For a full description of the Company and the Group please also see section 7 “Operational legal structure”.
The registered office and visiting address is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda.
The Company's telephone number is +1441 295 2244 and telefax number: +1441 292 8666.
The Company’s website address is www.hoeghlng.com

5.1.5 Recent events
On 13 August 2015, the Company announced an agreement to sell the entity that owns the FSRU Höegh
Gallant to Höegh LNG Partners LP ("HMLP" or the "Partnership") for a purchase price of USD 370 million,
subject to certain post-closing purchase price adjustments. The existing debt related to the Höegh Gallant is
approximately USD183 million and will continue to be outstanding. The purchase price will be settled by the
cancellation of a USD140 million demand note from HMLP to Höegh LNG and the issuance of a seller's credit of
USD47 million, due in 18 months with an interest rate of 8% per annum. The transaction is expected to be
completed by the end of September 2015 and is subject to customary closing conditions.
On 16 July 2015, the Company sold the LNG carrier LNG Libra to a Chinese energy company for USD 20.8
million. The Company has received 15% of the purchase price and will receive the remaining 85% by the end of
the first quarter 2016, after the vessel has completed her current charter with Gas Natural.
On 1 June 2015, the Company announced that the Company has ordered its FSRU number eight at Hyundai
Heavy Industries (HHI) in South Korea. FSRU number eight (HN 2865) is designed with full trading capability
and closed/open loop regas capacity of 750 MMscf/day, and will be delivered in the first quarter 2018. With this
order, the Company has eight, large size and fuel efficient FSRUs in operation or under construction, and
possesses the most modern FSRU fleet in the market. The agreement with HHI also includes a firm priced
option for an FSRU number nine, with a predefined delivery window.
On 26 May 2015, the Company signed an FSRU contract with Octopus LNG SpA ("Octopus") for the PencoLirquén LNG import terminal to be located in Concepción Bay, Chile. The contract is for a period of 20 years and
is expected to generate an average annual EBITDA of around USD 36 million. The contract is subject to
Octopus completing financing and obtaining necessary environmental approvals, and the planned start-up is in
the second quarter 2018. The Company will service the contract with an FSRU from its newbuilding program
currently in progress. The FSRU will be offered for sale to Höegh LNG Partners LP in due course.
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6.

Business overview

6.1

General

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. provides floating energy solutions and operates world-wide with as owner and
operatorof floating LNG import terminals; Floating storage and regasification units (FSRUs). The Company has
developed low-cost solutions for floating liquefaction terminals (FLNG) and is one of the most experienced
operators of LNG Carriers (LNGCs).
Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. is listed on Oslo stock exchange with the ticker "HLNG". The customer base
comprises international energy majors and domestic utilities. Its registered office is in Hamilton, Bermuda with
further office presence in Oslo (Norway), Klaipeda (Lithuania), London (UK), Jakarta (Indonesia), Cairo (Egypt),
Miami (USA), Singapore and South Korea (site team).
Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. has established a Master Limited Partnership, Höegh LNG Partners LP. Höegh LNG
Partners LP was formed to own, operate and acquire FSRUs, FLNGs, LNGCs and other LNG infrastructure
assets under long-term contracts. Höegh LNG's intention is to, after commencing operation and thereby having
de-risked the asset, sell its LNG assets on long term contracts to Höegh LNG Partners LP in order to recycle
capital to further grow the company.
2014 completed the transformation of Höegh LNG from an LNG shipping company to an LNG infrastructure
service provider. It was a year where several important milestones, including the following, were met that
significantly de-risked the Company:
(i) Höegh LNG took delivery of three FSRUs;
(ii) commenced long term commercial operation of two FSRUs;
(iii) signed long term FSRU contracts for two uncommitted FSRUs; and
(iv) listed Höegh LNG Partners LP on the New York Stock Exchange.

6.2

Business strategy and principal activities

The Group’s strategy is to continue to focus its growth plans in the FSRU and the FLNG market, with the
objective of securing long-term contracts with strong counterparts at attractive returns. The Group develops,
constructs, owns and operates vessels that perform floating LNG services and participate in developing
projects related to the LNG sector based on the following vision, mission and core values:




Vision:
Mission:

To be the industry leader of floating LNG terminal solutions.
To develop, manage and operate the Group’s assets to the highest technical and
commercial standards, thereby maximizing the benefits to its shareholders and other
stakeholders.
Core Values: Innovative, Competent, Committed and Reliable.

For FSRUs, the strategy to achieve these objectives is to be at the forefront of the technological development
and always have at least one uncommitted FSRU under construction. This strategy has proven successful in
winning high return FSRU projects and has enabled the Company to grow to become one of the leading
providers of FSRU services. For FLNG, the Company’s strategy is to offer a low cost floating liquefaction
solution based on access to pipeline specification gas, making it well suited for North American export projects.
Further, and as opposed to its FSRU strategy, the Company will not order an FLNG before securing a
commercial contract.

6.3

Business segments

The Commercial segment is responsible for the commercial management of the Company’s fleet of FSRUs and
LNG Carriers and tender activities for new regasification and transportation business. The segment records
income on a TCP basis, management income, charter hire expenses and operating expenses. The Commercial
segment is also responsible for the marketing and sale of FSRUs to be used as floating LNG import terminals
and LNG carriers.
On 13 August 2014, GDF Suez Neptune, GDF Suez Cape Ann and PGN FSRU Lampung were transferred to
the new operating segment arising from listing the HMLP.
The MLP segment includes activities related to HMLP, which was formed to own, operate and acquire FSRUs,
LNGCs and other LNG infrastructure assets under long-term charters, defined as five years or more. HMLP’s
initial fleet consists of the following vessels: (i) a 50% interest in the GDF Suez Neptune; (ii) a 50% interest in
the GDF Suez Cape Ann; and (iii) a 100% economic interest in the PGN FSRU Lampung. Höegh LNG is obliged
to offer any FSRU or LNGC operating under a long-term charter to HMLP. The capitalised costs attributable to
the MLP segment relate to the ownership of three FSRUs.
Prepared in cooperation with the Joint Lead Managers
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The FLNG segment records income and expenses relating to engineering studies and marketing of the
Company’s FLNG solutions. The capitalised costs relate to investments in front-end engineering design of an
FLNG.
The Technical segment provides specialist technical and project personnel to the Group’s projects, and is
responsible for the construction of floating regasification terminals as well as conventional LNG Carriers. In
addition, it is responsible for the execution of new regasification and transportation projects up until delivery. The
segment records income paid for technical management services to jointly owned LNG Carriers accounted for
according to the equity method and by third party owners of the vessels. The segment further records revenue
and expenses relating to new regasification and transportation contracts until delivery. The capitalised costs
attributable to the segment relate to the FSRU newbuilding programme.
The Administrative and other segment consist of Group management, finance, legal and other corporate
services

6.4

Floating LNG Import Terminals

Höegh LNG offers comprehensive solutions through its extensive development, project management and
construction skills, and has successfully executed integrated projects for customers, which include both floating
import/receiving terminals (FSRUs) and infrastructure such as mooring systems, off-loading arms and export
pipelines. Höegh LNG's floating terminals are based on constructing new assets with the latest and most
efficient technology, with capacities tailored to the requirements of its customers.
FSRUs are fitted with LNG regasification technology, allowing them to re-gasify and discharge natural gas under
high pressure. The onboard re-gasification system enables the FSRUs to deliver natural gas directly to the enduser either through a grid or a dedicated pipeline. Some FSRUs have further full trading capability, enabling
them to operate as standard LNG carriers.
The lead time for a floating LNG re-gasification terminal is normally shorter than for a land based terminal,
mainly due to a less comprehensive permitting process. Further, the capital expenditure associated with a
floating terminal is less than for a land based terminal, and in addition the floating terminal is flexible and can be
moved if the demand situation should change over time.
The Company has applied its technical expertise to develop floating terminal solutions to import LNG to meet the
evolving demand for natural gas. Höegh LNG analyses the market and meets customer requirements to ensure
that it keep its position as one of the leading providers offering the market's most modern and technically
advanced import solutions – to the benefit of the customers by reducing fuel consumption, emissions and costs.
Höegh LNG aims to have one open FSRU at any given time, reducing time to first gas for customers by offering
early delivery.
Höegh LNG's services are provided by a fully integrated organisation, providing all aspects of financing,
construction and operations of its vessels. The customer base includes some of the most respected and
successful energy companies in the world, for whom Höegh LNG operates the most modern fleet on the water,
with an average age on the FSRU fleet of 3 years.
Benefits of choosing a floating LNG import terminal
The following highlights the advantages of a floating import terminal solution as opposed to an onshore solution:







6.5

Ability to locate the terminal close to and serve an attractive market which would otherwise not be able
to utilise natural gas
Half the time to construct
Half the cost
Less risk of cost overruns, through constructing a significant portion of the terminal on fixed price and
delivery time at a shipyard which is specialised on such construction
Less environmental impact
Flexibility to relocate the FSRU or use it as an LNGC

Floating Liquefaction Terminals

Höegh LNG has developed flexible design solutions for barge type liquefaction terminals (FLNG) taking onboard
pipeline specification gas. The FLNG is cost-competitive with land-based terminals; it takes half the time to
construct and has the flexibility to be moved to another location. Due to the high capital requirements and
technical specification, Höegh LNG will order its first FLNG after contract award based on a long-term
agreement with a credit worthy counterparty. Höegh LNG's contracting strategy for constructing the FLNG is an
Engineering, Procurement, Construction, Installation and Commissioning (EPCIC) contract with an engineering
company with significant and world-wide experience on liquefaction facilities.
Prepared in cooperation with the Joint Lead Managers
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Höegh LNG has since 2006 invested significant funds and resources in FLNG development and has conducted
several Pre-front-end engineering designs (FEEDs) and a full generic FEED as well as field-specific studies paid
by customers. Höegh LNG's near-shore/at-shore FLNG solution has a production capacity ranging from 0.5 to
3.0 million tons per annum (MTPA) LNG, adjusted to fit commercial and technical project specific parameters
considering the limited hull motions, reliable operation and safety for personnel. The FLNG barge is a selfcontained unit, including the required gas pre-treatment facilities as well as utility systems, minimizing the need
for onshore facilities reducing the environment impact.
Höegh LNG’s FLNG concept is based on efficient liquefaction technology; the base case is Single MixedRefrigerant (SMR) technology for volumes < 2 MTPA and a Dual Mixed-Refrigerant (DMR) type technology for
volumes > 2 MTPA. Power for the unit will be produced on board (base case) or alternatively supplied from
shore. The at-shore FLNG option offers flexibility in LNG containment solutions: full internal storage in the FLNG
with membrane or IHI Marine United Inc. Self-supporting Prismatic shape IMO type-B (IHI SPB) containment
technology, or external storage in a floating storage and offloading unit (FSO) with buffer storage in the FLNG
hull.
Höegh LNG's near-shore FLNG solution is based on liquefaction of pipeline gas quality for greenfield
development and it offers flexibility to expand existing capacity or for monetizing associated gas on existing oil
production. The FLNG unit will be moored quay side to a jetty-structure, or near shore to a tower yoke or with
turret.
FLNG offers a superior solution for many projects, in particular small- and mid- scale, due to:








Short schedule
Lower CAPEX cost
Minimising onshore requirements
Self-contained vessel
Low environmental footprint
Easy de-commissioning
Reusable for other projects

Höegh LNG's approach to design and execution is:






6.6

Cost efficient design for a wide range of projects, gas compositions and liquefaction capacities
Focus on inherently safe design and zero incident approach to health, safety and environment
Utilising reliable and proven technologies in all systems
Design the FLNG facility for 25 years of reliable operation
Providing guarantees on completion, performance and operations

LNG Carriers

Höegh LNG has more than 40 years of experience as designer, owner and operator of LNG Carriers (LNGCs).
Höegh LNG's fleet of LNGCs is constantly being inspected by technical inspectors, vetting co-ordinators and our
clients to ensure operational standard of the highest quality. Höegh LNG will order new LNGCs only at the back
of a long term contract if the investment is accretive for Höegh LNG Partners LP.
Höegh LNG’s involvement in gas transportation started with LPG carriers in the 1960s and in 1970 it became the
first company to order an LNG carrier with spherical Moss-design tanks, the prototype LNG/C Norman Lady.
Höegh LNG owned and operated the three LNG carriers Norman Lady, Höegh Gandria and Höegh Galleon until
they were sold in 2013, 2007 and 2006 respectively. In 2001, Höegh LNG ordered two LNG Carriers in
partnership with Mitsui-OSK Lines (MOL) of Japan. At the time, the vessels were the largest LNG Carriers in the
world, with a capacity of 147,000 cubic meters. Delivered in 2006, the vessels are on a 20-year time charter
agreement with Statoil and Total, respectively, transporting LNG from the Snøhvit liquefaction plant near
Hammerfest, in the northern part of Norway. Furthermore, Höegh LNG own and operates LNG Libra and have
management for LNG Carrier Matthew.
For vessels in excess of 20 years, the Company has Condition Assessment Programme certificates (CAP). The
CAP programme certifies a standard of quality beyond the class requirement.
All of Höegh LNG's existing LNGCs are chartered out on term charter parties to investment graded energy
companies.
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The extensive experience and proven track record as an operator of LNG Carriers is an important factor in the
transition of Höegh LNG from a traditional LNG shipowner to its current position as one of the leading providers
of floating LNG services, and in particular floating LNG import terminals.

6.7

Fleet

6.7.1

Fleet list FSRUs

The Group owns and operates five FSRUs.

Höegh Gallant

Ownership
Manager
Charterer
Contract
Vessel Operation

Höegh LNG (sold to Höegh LNG Partners)
Höegh LNG
Egyptian Natural Gas Holding Company (EGAS). Charter started in April 2015
5 years
LNG import terminal (FSRU) in Ain Sokhna, Egypt

Independence

Ownership
Manager
Charterer
Contract
Vessel Operation

Höegh LNG
Höegh LNG
Klaipedos Nafta
10 years. Charter started November 2014
LNG import terminal (FSRU) in Klaipeda, Lithuania
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PGN FSRU Lampung

Ownership
Manager
Charterer
Contract
Vessel Operation

Höegh LNG Partners
Höegh LNG
PGN LNG
20 + 5 or 10 years time charter. Charter started July 2014
Located offshore in the Lampung Province at the southeast coast of Sumatra,
Indonesia. Moored at a purpose-built mooring system owned by PT PGN LNG
and located approximately 16 kilometers offshore.

GdF Suez Cape Ann

Ownership
Manager
Charterer
Contract
Vessel Operation

Owned by Höegh LNG Partners (50%) and MOL (48.5 %) and Tokyo LNG
Tanker Co. Ltd (1.5%)
Höegh LNG
Engie – ex. GDF Suez
20 + 5 or 10 years time charter. Charter started on June 2010
Employed as China’s first FSRU located in Tianjin, China – seasonal
deployment under subcontract to China National Offshore Oil Corporation Gas &
Power Ltd.
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GdF Suez Neptune

Ownership
Manager
Charterer
Contract
Vessel Operation

6.7.2

Owned by Höegh LNG Partners (50%) and MOL (48.5 %) and Tokyo LNG
Tanker Co. Ltd (1.5%)
Höegh LNG
Engie – ex. GDF Suez
20 + 5 or 10 years time charter. Charter started on November 2009
Currently operating as an LNGC

Fleet list LNGCs

The Group operates a fleet of four regular LNG carriers, all of which are currently under time charter and
agreements with strong industry names.

Arctic Princess

Disponent Ownership
Manager
Customer
Contract
Vessel Operation

Leif Hoegh (U.K) Limited
Leif Hoegh (U.K) Limited
Statoil
20 + 5 + 5 years time charter. Charter started in January 2006
LNG Carrier
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Arctic Lady

Disponent Ownership
Manager
Customer
Contract
Vessel Operation

Leif Hoegh (U.K) Limited
Leif Hoegh (U.K) Limited
Total
20 + 5 + 5 years time charter. Charter started in April 2006
LNG Carrier

Matthew

Ownership
Manager
Charterer
Contract
Vessel Operation

Owned by Suez LNG Shipping NA LLC
Höegh LNG
N/A (Vessel owned by Suez LNG Shipping NA LLC)
N/A (Vessel owned by Suez LNG Shipping NA LLC)
LNG Carrier
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LNG Libra

Ownership
Manager
Customer
Contract
Vessel Operation

6.7.3

Owned by Höegh LNG
Höegh LNG
Gas Natural
Until 31 March 2016 (sold to a Chinese energy company)
LNG Carrier

FSRU newbuilding program

HN 2551 (tbn Höegh Grace)
Vessel under construction at Hyundai Heavy Industries Co. Ltd. To be Delivered Q2 2016.

HN 2552
Vessel under construction at Hyundai Heavy Industries Co. Ltd. To be delivered Q1 2017.

HN 2865
Vessel under construction at Hyundai Heavy Industries Co. Ltd. To be delivered Q1 2018
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6.8

Time charter contracts in operation as at 31 July 2015

Vessel

Type

Charterer

Country

TCP

Expiry

Option

Arctic Princess

LNGC

Statoil ASA

Norway

20 years

January 2026

5+5 years

20 years

April 2026

5+5 years

1 year

March 2016

Arctic Lady

LNGC

Total E&P Norge AS

Norway

LNG Libra

LNGC 1

Gas Natural Aprovisionamientos SDG, S.A

Spain

PGN FSRU Lampung FSRU

PT PGN LNG Indonesia

Indonesia

20 years

July 2034

5+5 years

GdF Suez Neptune

GdF Suez Global Supply SA

France

20 years

November 2029

5+5 years
5+5 years

FSRU

GdF Suez Cape Ann

FSRU

GdF Suez Global Supply SA

France

20 years

June 2030

Independence

FSRU

AB Klaipedos Nafta

Lithuania

10 years

December 2024

Höegh Gallant

FSRU 2

Egyptian Natural Gas Holding Company

Egypt

5 years

April 2020

Höegh Grace

FSRU 3

Sociedad Portuaria El Cayao S.A. E.S.P

Colombia

20 years

June 2036

Höegh FSRU#7

FSRU 3

Höegh FSRU#8

FSRU 3

Octopus LNG SpA

Chile

20 years

June 2038 4

5+5 years

1 LNG Libra sold t o a Chinese energy company, delivery af t er end of chart er wit h Gas Nat ural Aprovisionamient os SDG, S.A
2 Höegh Gallant start ed operat ions in April 2015
3 Under const ruct ion, Höegh Grace delivery April 2016, Höegh FSRU # 7 delievry M arch 2017 and Höegh FSRU # 8 delivery M arch 2018
4 Est imated st art-up
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7.

Operational legal structure

The Group’s reporting structure changed with effect from 13 August 2014, reflecting the launch of HMLP. From
this date, the MLP has been reported as a separate segment in the Group accounts. For further information
about the segments see clause 6.3.
The following figure illustrates the Group’s current operational structure:

President
Sveinung Støhle

CEO

MLP

QA & Risk Management

Richard Tyrrell

Ivar Grøneng

CEO/CFO MLP

VP

Technical

Commercial

Finance

Corp. Adm.

FLNG

Vegard Hellekleiv

Ragnar Wisløff

Steffen Føreid

Stephan Tschudi‐Madsen

Øivin Iversen

CTO

CCO

CFO

CAO

CDO

The following figure illustrates a simplified overview over the Group’s current legal structure:
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7.1

Description of Group

The significant companies within the Group are Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd., its subsidiaries and joint ventures.

7.1.1

Principal subsidiaries

Proportion of Proportion of Proportion of
ordinary
ordinary
ordinary
shares held by shares held by shares held by
the NCI
the group
parent

Country

Principal activity

Höegh LNG Ltd.

Bermuda

Holding

Höegh LNG AS

Norw ay

Management

100

Höegh LNG Fleet Management AS

Norw ay

Ship Management

100

Leif Höegh (U.K.) Limited

England

Ship Management

100

Hoegh LNG Asia Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Business dev.

100

Hoegh LNG Shipping Services Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Repair

100

Hoegh LNG Maritime Management Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Ship management

100

Port Dolphin Energy LLC

USA

Business dev.

100

Port Dolphin Holding Company, LLC

USA

Holding

100

Compressed Energy Technology AS

Norw ay

Business dev.

100

Höegh LNG FSRU III Ltd.

Cayman Island

Shipow ning

100

Höegh LNG FSRU IV Ltd.

Cayman Island

Shipow ning

Methane Ventures Limited

British Virgin Islands

Investment

63,3

Höegh FLNG Ltd.

Bermuda

FLNG business

100

Hoegh LNG Klaipeda Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Shipow ning

Hoegh LNG Klaipeda, UAB

Lithuania

FSRU Operation

Höegh LNG Québec Inc.

Canada

FLNG business

Höegh LNG Egypt Services Ltd.

Cayman Islands

Holding

100

Höegh LNG Egypt Holding I Ltd.

Cayman Islands

Holding

100

Höegh LNG Egypt Holding II Ltd.

Cayman Islands

Holding

100

Hoegh LNG Cyprus Limited

Cyprus

Shipow ning

Höegh LNG GP LLC

Marshall Islands

General Partner

Höegh LNG Partners LP *

Marshall Islands

Holding

Com pany
Subsidiaries:

Common units

100

100
36,7

100
100
100

100
100

8,04

Subordinated units

41,96

50

Total units

41,96

58,04

Höegh LNG Partners Operating LLC

Marshall Islands

Holding

100

Hoegh LNG Services Ltd.

England

Management

100

Hoegh LNG Lampung Pte. Ltd

Singapore

Holding

100

PT Höegh LNG Lampung**

Indonesia

Shipow ning

49



Höegh LNG Partners LP is a US listed partnership based on the Marshall Islands. The Company’s
holding of 58.04% consists of 50% subordinated units and 8.04 % common units. The partnership
agreement limits the voting power of an individual common unit holder to a maximum of 4.9 % for
election to the Board. Subordinated unit holders have no right to appoint or elect Board members.
Common unit holders have the right to elect four members of the Board while the General Partner, an
entity controlled by the Company, has the right to appoint the remaining three members of the Board.

**

The Group consolidates PT Höegh LNG Lampung as it controls all of the economic interest in the
Company.
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7.1.2

Joint Ventures

List of joint ventures whereof the Company has ownership per 31 December 2014:
Registered
Office

Country

Principal
activity

Joint Gas Ltd.

Georgetow n

Cayman Island

Shipow ning

34

34

Joint Gas Tw o Ltd.

Georgetow n

Cayman Island

Shipow ning

50

50

SRV Joint Gas Ltd.

Georgetow n

Cayman Island

Shipow ning

50

50

SRV Joint Gas Tw o Ltd.

Georgetow n

Cayman Island

Shipow ning

50

50

Methane Carriers Limited *

Nassau

Bahamas

Shipow ning

-

50

PNG Floating LNG Holdings Limited *

Singapore

Singapore

Holding

-

33

PNG Floating LNG Limited*

Singapore

Singapore

Business dev.

-

33 [2]

Com pany



Ow nership in %
YE2014
YE2013

Methane Carriers Limited owned the LNG Carrier Norman Lady, sold for green recycling in October
2013. This entity was liquidated in December 2014. PNG Floating LNG Holdings Limited owns 100% of
the shares in PNG Floating Limited. Both entities were struck off in the Company registry in Singapore
in May 2014.

Joint Gas Ltd and Joint Gas Two Ltd have the Artic Vessels on financial lease agreements
SRV Joint Gas Ltd. and SRV Joint Gas Two Ltd. own and operate the FSRUs, GDF Suez Neptune and GDF
Suez Cape Ann, respectively, both leased out to GDF Suez Global LNG Supply SA.
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7.2

Issuer dependent upon other entities

Höegh LNG is the ultimate parent company and the holding company of the Group and has no assets other than
the shares of its subsidiaries and no operations of its own. The Company is dependent upon the other entities
within the Group for dividends and other payments to generate the funds necessary to meet its financial
obligations, including the payment of principal and interest on the notes. The ability of Höegh LNG’s subsidiaries
to make payments to the Company may be restricted by, among other things, their credit facilities and applicable
state corporation or similar statutes and other laws and regulations. Currently, there are no significant
restrictions on Höegh LNG’s ability or the ability of any of the Company’s subsidiaries to obtain funds from its
subsidiaries by such means as a dividend or loan.
The Company’s income is primarily due to interest income on the continuing lending to its wholly owned
subsidiary Höegh LNG Ltd.
The Company has entered into loan agreements with subsidiaries and the total amount of transactions for the
relevant years, are provided below:
Receivables against related party

2014

2013

Subsidiary

USD 000'

USD 000'

Höegh LNG Ltd.

425 450

519 342

5 333

4 897

11 743

6 425

Methane Ventures Limited
Höegh FLNG Ltd.
Hoegh LNG Partners LP
Total

5 360
447 885

530 664

Trade payable to related party
Subsidiary
Höegh LNG AS

-

Höegh LNG Ltd.

-

351
36

Total

-

387

Interest incom e from related party
Subsidiary
Höegh LNG Ltd.

13 156

Methane Ventures Limited

436

Höegh FLNG Ltd.

242

Hoegh LNG Partners LP (commitment fee)
Total

467
14 301

13 803
372
110
14 286

Interest cost to a related party
Subsidiary
Hoegh LNG Partners LP
Total

3 241
3 241

-

The Parent Company has entered into a loan facility with Höegh LNG Ltd. in the amount of USD 600 million. The
interest rate of the facility has a margin of 2.5% over 3 months LIBOR. Repayment of this facility shall be done in
one or several amounts as agreed between the Parent Company and Höegh LNG Ltd.
The Parent Company has received administrative services in the amount of USD 1.5 million in 2014 from the
subsidiary Höegh LNG AS (USD 2.0 million in 2013).
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8.

Trend/Market information

8.1

Market

The world-wide LNG liquefaction capacity, currently around 260 MTPA, is expected to increase by 50% over the
next five years from the start-up of two large waves of additional liquefaction capacity currently under
construction. The first wave consists of approximately 60 MTPA of additional LNG from Australia; BG’s
Queensland Curtis LNG commenced operations earlier this year and five additional LNG projects are expected
to commence operations through 2017. The second wave will come from the U.S. where approximately 45
MTPA of liquefaction capacity is expected to enter the market by 2020, of which the majority is expected to
come from 2017 and onwards. Whereas most of the Australian LNG have been sold with destination restrictions,
the LNG from the U.S. have no destination restrictions and should therefore add extra dynamism to the overall
LNG market.
In general, LNG prices are linked to the oil price and have fallen over the last nine months. The additional LNG
liquefaction capacity under construction is expected to put further downward pressure on LNG prices, in
particular spot LNG prices. Furthermore, U.S. LNG will introduce a new pricing element to the market, since the
sales agreements are based on U.S. natural gas prices plus a fixed tolling fee, and will allow LNG importers a
strategic diversification away from LNG prices linked to oil.
The additional LNG liquefaction capacity under construction, increased destination flexibility and lower and more
diversified prices should make LNG more attractive to importers. The Company has already experienced that
the lower LNG prices have led to higher demand for FSRUs, and the Company’s list of potential FSRU projects
world-wide has increased from around 30 to around 35 in last few months.
Potential LNG liquefaction projects that have not yet reached a final investment decision will have to compete in
the market based on a much lower oil price than was previously the case. This will likely lead to a number of
planned LNG liquefaction projects being either delayed, scaled down, or put permanently on hold, if costs
cannot be reduced. In North America, which is the Company’s FLNG focus, brownfield U.S. LNG liquefaction
projects set the price cap for any new LNG liquefaction projects, both onshore and floating. Since FLNG
solutions normally have a lower initial investment, shorter development schedule and increased flexibility
compared to land based LNG liquefaction facilities, new FLNG projects in North America should be competitively
priced to capture part of the market going forward. To the Company’s knowledge, eight FLNGs are currently
under construction; three of these are large offshore units with full on-board processing plants, three are
conversions of old Moss type LNGCs, and two are barge FLNGs designed to liquefy pipeline specification gas.
1
The LNGC market remains oversupplied and approximately 11% of the fleet, or around 45 LNG vessels, is
2
currently without employment. With an orderbook representing 46% of the global fleet, the Company expects
the short-term LNGC market to remain oversupplied for the next two to three years, until all the new LNG
liquefaction capacity enters the market. The Company’s three owned LNGCs are all on time charter contracts,
and the Company has no exposure to the spot market.

8.2

Outlook

The two large waves of additional LNG liquefaction capacity that enters the market over the next five years
should, together with lower energy and LNG prices, lead to higher demand for LNG and consequently FSRUs to
receive the LNG. Being less capital intensive, quicker to build and more flexible, FSRUs have become the
preferred solution for new importers, and with a strong track-record of securing new contracts in the FSRU
market, the Company is well positioned to succeed with its stated growth strategy for the FSRU segment. Within
FLNG, the Company is continuing to focus on its North American projects where it believes that it should be able
to offer a competitive unit price and increased flexibility compared to U.S. land based LNG liquefaction
terminals.Statement of no material adverse change.
There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since the date of its last published
audited financial statements. See clause 11.6.

1
2

Source: Fearnleys, see section 12.
Source: Fearnleys, see section 12
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9.

Administrative, management and supervisory bodies

9.1

Information about persons

9.1.1

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the overall management of the Company and may
exercise all of the powers of the Company, which are not by the Bermuda Companies Act or by the Bye-laws
required to be exercised by the Company in a general meeting.
The table below set out the names of the members of the Board of Directors of the Company as of the date of
this Registration Document:
Name

Position

Business address

Morten W. Høegh

Chairman

Leif O. Høegh

Deputy Chairman

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd, Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda
Same as above

Christopher G. Finlayson

Director

Same as above

Andrew Jamieson

Director

Same as above

Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg

Director

Same as above

Cameron Adderley

Director

Same as above

Timothy J. Counsell

Director

Same as above

Morten W. Høegh, Chairman
Morten W. Høegh has served as Chairman of Höegh LNG since 2006 and is a director of Höegh Autoliners
Holdings AS. He also holds the position as Director of Höegh LNG Partners LP, an MLP company listed on the
NYSE in New York. From 1998 to 2000 he worked as an investment banker with Morgan Stanley in London.
Morten W. Høegh holds an MBA with High Distinction (Baker Scholar) from Harvard Business School and a
Bachelor of Science in Ocean Engineering and Master of Science in Ocean Systems Management from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. He is a graduate of the Military Russian Program at the Norwegian
Defence Intelligence and Security School.
Leif O. Høegh
Leif O. Høegh has served as Deputy Chairman of Höegh LNG since 2006 and is the Chairman of Höegh
Autoliners Holdings AS. Leif O. Høegh worked for McKinsey & Company and the Royal Bank of Canada Group.
He holds an MA in Economics from the University of Cambridge and an MBA from Harvard Business School.
Leif O. Høegh is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Christopher G. Finlayson
Christopher G. Finlayson is a non-executive chairman of the board of Interoil Corporation, a director of the board
of Lloyds Register Group and he chairs Lloyds' remuneration committee. Finlayson joined BG Group in 2010. He
led BG Group's operations in Europe and Central Asia until 2011 when he became Managing Director of BG
Advance and was appointed to the BG Group Board of Directors. He was responsible for BG Group's worldclass exploration team, major capital projects program, technology, contracts and procurement and IT. Mr
Finlayson was CEO from 2012 until he left the BG Group in April 2014. Before joining BG, he worked with
exploration and production of oil and natural gas in Royal Dutch Shell for 33 years, which includes operational
management experience from Nigeria, Russia, Brunei, Turkey and the North Sea. Mr Finlayson received a BSc
Physics and Geology with First Class Honours from the University of Manchester in 1977. He is a British citizen
and resides in the United Kingdom.
Andrew Jamieson
Andrew Jamieson serves as a Director of Höegh LNG. He also holds the position as Director of Höegh LNG
Partners LP, an MLP company listed on the NYSE in New York. He has vast experience from the energy
industry in general and LNG in particular, having been in charge of both the North West Shelf project in Australia
and Nigeria LNG for a number of years. He retired from the Royal Dutch Shell group in 2009 where he has
served as Executive Vice President Gas & Projects and Member of the Gas & Power Executive Committee
since 2005. From 1999 to 2004 he was Managing Director in Nigeria LNG Ltd. and Vice President in Bonny Gas
Transport Ltd. Dr. Jamieson has been with Royal Dutch Shell group since 1974, with positions in The
Netherlands, Denmark, Australia and Nigeria, and he has been a director on the boards of several Shell
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companies. He holds a Ph.D. degree from Glasgow University and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chemical
Engineers and also of the Royal Academy of Engineering. Andrew Jamieson is a citizen of the United Kingdom
and resides in the United Kingdom and Australia.
Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg
Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg has served as a Director of Höegh LNG since 2006. He is the owner of Weco Invest
A/S, an investment company working out of Copenhagen. Previously he was a partner in the corporate finance
boutique Capitellum and prior to this he held various management positions in the Danish shipping company
Dannebrog Rederi A/S. He has also been a consultant with McKinsey & Co. Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg holds an
MBA from INSEAD, France and a BA in economics from Stanford University. Ditlev Wedell-Wedellsborg is a
Danish citizen and resides in Denmark.
Cameron Adderley
Cameron Adderley has served as a Director of Höegh LNG since 2006. Cameron Adderley is a partner of
Appleby, Höegh LNG's Bermuda counsel. Cameron Adderley is the Global Practice Group Head, Corporate &
Commercial of Appleby with a broad based corporate and commercial practice which includes securities,
mergers and acquisitions, financing and capital markets transactions. He also advises on joint ventures including
the structure, governance and finance arrangements for such transactions. Cameron Adderley graduated from
the University of Bristol with a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) degree in 1989 and qualified as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of England and Wales in 1992 (now non-practising). He was called to the Bermuda Bar in
September 1993. Cameron Adderley is a British citizen and resides in Bermuda.
Timothy J. Counsell
Timothy J. Counsell has served as a Director of Höegh LNG since 2011. Timothy J. Counsell is a partner of
Appleby, Höegh LNG's Bermuda counsel and is Head of Appleby's Transport & Logistics practice sector. He has
a practice area including ship and aviation finance, asset secured lending and has extensive experience with
corporate governance issues as well as provision of structural advice in relation to such transactions. He
graduated from the University of Western Ontario in London, Ontario, Canada with a Bachelor of Laws in 1988
and also possesses Master of Science and Bachelor of Science (Honours) degrees. Timothy J. Counsell was
called to the Bermuda Bar in 1992, is a British and a Canadian citizen and resides in Bermuda.

9.1.2

Management

The Company has entered into management agreement with the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Höegh
LNG AS. According to this agreement, the day-to-day management is performed by Höegh LNG AS, and as a
result the Company will in principle have no separate management.
The senior management group of Höegh LNG AS (the management) and the Group currently consists of:
Name

Position

Business address

Sveinung J. S. Støhle

President and Chief Executive
Officer (CEO)

Steffen Føreid
Stephan Tschudi-Madsen
Ragnar Wisløff
Vegard Hellekleiv
Øivin Iversen

Chief Financial Officer
Chief Administrative Officer
Chief Commercial Officer
Chief Technical Officer
Chief Development Officer
FLNG

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd, c/o Höegh LNG
AS, Drammensveien 134, 0277 Oslo,
Norway
Same as above.
Same as above.
Same as above.
Same as above.
Same as above.

-

Sveinung J. Støhle
Sveinung Støhle serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Höegh LNG through his employment
with Höegh LNG AS since 2005. He also holds the position as Chairman of Höegh LNG Partners LP, an MLP
company listed on the NYSE in New York. Sveinung Støhle has more than 25 years of experience from the LNG
industry with both shipping and oil & gas companies. Prior to his employment with Höegh LNG he held positions
as President of Total LNG USA, Inc., Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Golar LNG Ltd.,
General Manager Commercial of Nigeria LNG Ltd. and various positions with Elf Aquitaine. Sveinung Støhle has
a Master of Business Administration from the University of San Francisco and a Bachelor of Science in Finance
from California State University. He is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Steffen Føreid
Steffen Føreid has served as Chief Financial Officer of Höegh LNG AS since 2010. He also holds the position as
Director of Höegh LNG Partners LP, an MLP company listed on the NYSE in New York. From 2008 to 2010, he
served as Chief Financial Officer of and advisor to Grenland Group ASA. From 2002 to 2007 he held various
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positions at a restructuring of Kværner ASA, including Executive Vice President during a management buy-out
of Kværner ASA and Vice President of Group Business Development at Aker Kværner ASA. From 1996 to 2001,
Steffen Føreid worked within Corporate and Investment Banking at JPMorgan Chase & Co. Steffen Føreid has a
Master of Science in Finance from the University of Fribourg in Switzerland. He is a Norwegian citizen and
resides in Norway.
Stephan Tschudi-Madsen
Stephan Tschudi-Madsen serves as Chief Administrative Officer of the Group through his employment with
Höegh LNG AS. He has served Höegh companies for more than 30 years and played a key role in the
development of the LNG activity the last 25 years. He is a Director of the Board of SIGTTO (Society of
International Gas Tanker and Terminal Operators). He is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Ragnar Wisløff
Ragnar Wisløff has served as Chief Commercial Officer since 2013 Group through his employment with Höegh
LNG AS. He joined Höegh LNG AS in 2005 and has 15 years of experience from the gas industry in both
upstream and downstream activities with various companies in the industry. He is a Norwegian citizen and
resides in Norway.
Vegard Hellekleiv
Mr. Hellekleiv serves as Chief Technical Officer since 2013 through his employment with Höegh LNG AS. He
has 12 years of experience from newbuilding and ship management positions, including three years of
experience from Det Norske Veritas. He is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Norway.
Øivin Iversen
Øivin Iversen serves as Chief Development Officer FLNG since 2014. He holds a Master Degree in naval
architecture. He has worked with development of LNG carriers and floating LNG terminals solutions for almost
20 years, holding various technical and commercial positions. At Höegh LNG he has been involved in the
development of Floating Regasification and Storage Units (FSRU) and Floating Liquefaction Units (FLNG).
Currently, he heads the Höegh LNG development of FLNG solutions. He is a Norwegian citizen and resides in
Norway.
Please also see the Company’s website www.hoeghlng.com, Investor Relations, Corporate Governance for
further information about the management of the Company.

9.2

Administrative, management and supervisory bodies conflicts of interest

All directors, except Morten W. Høegh and Leif O. Høegh, are considered independent from the largest
shareholder and, to the Company’s knowledge, there are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties to
the issuing entity of the persons referred to in section 9.1 (“Information about persons”) and their private
interests and/or other duties.
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10.

Major shareholders

10.1

Ownership

As of 7 August 2015, the share capital of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. amounted to USD 699,025.97 divided into
69,902,597 shares, each with a nominal value of USD 0.01.
Below is a list of the 20 largest shareholders of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd as per 19 August 2015:

20 largest shareholders as at 19 August 2015
Leif Hoegh and Co Ltd

Ow nership (#) Ow nership (%)
31 174 789

44,60%

Fairview

4 000 000

5,72%

Baupost Group

3 677 467

5,26%

Allianz

2 673 268

3,82%

Tufton Oceanic

2 170 756

3,11%

Private< 10k shares

1 777 931

2,54%

RIT Capital Partners

1 664 697

2,38%

DNB Asset Management

1 273 127

1,82%

Nordea Asset Management

1 249 863

1,79%

Methane Ventures Limited

1 211 738

1,73%

BlackRock

950 728

1,36%

Handelsbanken Asset Management

915 000

1,31%

Farringdon Capital Management

826 578

1,18%

Individuals

802 731

1,15%

Eika Kapitalforvaltning

750 583

1,07%

Beach Point

732 663

1,05%

Mandatum

688 698

0,99%

Fidelity Management & Research

660 466

0,94%

DNB as marketmaker

595 305

0,85%

KLP

534 124

0,76%

58 330 512

83,43%

Other shareholders

11 572 085

16,57%

Total shares

69 902 597

100,00%

The Company has measures in place to ensure that the shareholding of 44.60% by Leif Höegh & Co. Limited is
not abused and the Board of Höegh LNG has committed the Company to good corporate governance. The
composition and independence of the Board is described in the corporate policy of Höegh LNG. The Board of
Directors may consist of up to ten Directors appointed by the Annual General Meeting. Currently, as set out in
section 10.1, the Board of Directors consist of seven Directors where two of the Directors are representatives of
the Høegh family whilst the remaining Directors are independent.
Höegh LNG has only one class of share. All of those issued have the same rights attached to them.
The common shares of the Company are freely transferable and the Company's constitutional documents do not
impose any transfer restrictions on the Company's common shares. However, Bye-law 14.3 (See Section 17
Bye-Laws) includes a right for the Board to decline to register a transfer of any common share registered in the
share register, or if required, refuse to direct any registrar appointed by the Company a transfer of any interest in
a share, where such transfer would result in 50% or more of the shares or votes being held, controlled or owned
directly or indirectly by individuals or legal persons resident for tax purposes in Norway or, alternatively, such
shares or votes being effectively connected to a Norwegian business activity. The purpose of this provision is to
avoid that the Company is being deemed a Controlled Foreign Company pursuant to Norwegian tax rules.
The Company is committed to equal treatment of its shareholders. As a company incorporated in Bermuda, the
Company is subject to Bermuda law regarding corporate governance. In addition, as a listed company on Oslo
Stock Exchange, the Company is subject to Oslo Børs’ “Continuing obligations of stock exchange listed
companies” section 7 “Corporate Governance Report”. The Company has adopted and implemented a corporate
governance regime which, in all material respects, complies with the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance Code referred to in the Oslo Børs’ Continuing Obligations section 7. For further details, reference is
made to the Company’s Corporate Governance Report included in the Annual Report 2014 pages 19-24.
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Take-overs
The Company endorses the principles concerning equal treatment of all shareholders. The Company is obliged
to act professionally and in accordance with the applicable principles for good corporate governance set out in
the Corporate Governance Code in the event of a takeover bid.
Please also see Company website www.hoeghlng.com, Investor Relations, Corporate Governance.

10.2

Change in control of the Issuer

There are no arrangements in the operation, known to the Issuer, of which may at a subsequent date result in a
change in control of the Issuer.
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11.

Financial information concerning the Issuer's assets and liabilities,
financial position and profits and losses

11.1

Historical Financial Information

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (the EU). The consolidated accounts have been prepared
based on historic cost principle, except for derivative financial instruments and the marketable securities portfolio
that are measured at fair value. The Interim Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34.
The Interim Financial Information does not include all of the information required for full annual financial
statements of the Group and should be read in conjunction with the annual report.
The accounting principles of Höegh LNG are described in the Annual Report 2014, note 2, pages 34 – 45 and in
the Annual Report 2013, note 2, pages19– 28.
The separate financial statements for Höegh LNG have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS and
interpretations by the IASB, which are approved by the EU.
According to the Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 implementing Directive 2003/71/EC
of the European Parliament and of the Council, information in a prospectus may be incorporated by reference.
Because of the complexity in the historical financial information and the financial statements, the information in
this Registration Document is incorporated by reference.
For the Company’s accounts on consolidated basis, reference is made to the Company Annual Report 2014
and the Company Annual Report 2013
Please see Cross Reference List in section 14 (page 33) for complete internet addresses.

2014*)

Annual Report
2013

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated
Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

page 29

page 15

Consolidated statement of financial
position
Consolidated statement of cash flow

page 30
page 33

page 16
page 18

Notes to the consolidated financial
statements

pages 34-79

pages 19-56

Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. Parent
Statement of comprehensive income
Statement of financial position
Statement of cash flow
Notes to the financial statements

page 81
page 82
page 84
pages 85-92

page 58
page 59
page 60
page 61-65

*) including comparative figures for 2013

11.2

Financial statements

See section 12.1 (“Historical Financial Information”).

11.3

Auditing of historical annual financial information

11.3.1 Statement of audited historical financial information
The Financial Statements were audited by Ernst & Young AS in accordance with the International Standards on
Auditing.
The auditor’s report is included in the Company Annual Report 2014 page 93-94 and in Company Annual Report
2013 page 66-67.
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11.4

Age of latest financial information

11.4.1 Last year of audited financial information
The last year of audited financial information is 2014.

11.5

Legal and arbitration proceedings

Prior to the date of this Registration Document, Höegh LNG is not aware of any ongoing, pending or threatened
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings during the last 12 months that may have or have had in the recent
past a significant effect on the Group’s financial position or profitability.

11.6

Significant change in the Group's financial or trading position

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since the end of the last
financial period for which interim financial information has been published.
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12.

Third party information and statement by experts and declarations of
any interest

Part of the information given in this Registration Document has been sourced from a third party. It is hereby
confirmed that the information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. is
aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which
would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The following table lists such third parties:
Third party

Source

Fearnleys

Based on Höegh LNG`s conversations with Fearnleys, 24
July 2015.
Based on Höegh LNG`s conversations with Fearnleys, 24
July 2015.

Fearnleys
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13.

Documents on display

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the Company’s offices at Drammensveien
134, N-0277 Oslo, Norway, during normal business hours from Monday to Friday each week (except public
holidays) for a period of twelve months from the date of this Registration Document:
a)

the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company;

b)

all reports, letters, and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and statements
prepared by any expert at the Company's request any part of which is included or referred to in the
Registration Document;

c)

the historical financial information of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings for each of the two
financial years preceding the publication of the Registration Document.
; and
d)

this Registration Document.
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14.

Cross Reference List

Reference in the
Registration Document

Refers to

Details

11.1 Historical
Financial
Information

Annual Report 2014, available at:

Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, page 29

http://hugin.info/143849/R/1914646/684190.pdf

Consolidated statement of
financial position, pages 30
Consolidated statement of cash
flow, page 33
Notes, pages 34-79
Statement of comprehensive
income, page 81
Statement of financial position,
pages 82
Statement of cash flow, page 84
Notes, pages 85-92
11.1 Historical
Financial
Information

Annual Report 2013, available at:
http://hugin.info/143849/R/1781036/655268.pdf

Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, page 15
Consolidated statement of
financial position, pages 16
Consolidated statement of cash
flow, page 18
Notes, pages 19-56
Statement of comprehensive
income, page 58
Statement of financial position,
pages 59
Statement of cash flow, page 60
Notes, pages 61-65

11.3.1 Statement
of
audited
historical
financial
information

Annual Report 2014 Höegh LNG, available at:

Auditor’s report, page 93-94

http://hugin.info/143849/R/1914646/684190.pdf
Annual Report 2013 for Höegh LNG Holding Group,
available at:

Auditor’s report, pages 66-67

http://hugin.info/143849/R/1781036/655268.pdf

References to the above mentioned documents are limited to information given in “Details”, e.g. that the nonincorporated parts are either not relevant for the investor or covered elsewhere in the prospectus.
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15.

Disclaimers

15.1

Managers’ disclaimer

Danske Bank Markets, DNB Bank ASA, DNB Markets, Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Nordea Markets, Pareto
Securities AS and Swedbank Norway (together the "Joint Lead Managers") have assisted the Company in
preparing this Registration Document. The Joint Lead Managers have not verified the information contained
herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and the Joint Lead
Managers expressly disclaim any legal or financial liability as to the accuracy or completeness of the information
contained in this Registration Document or any other information supplied in connection with the Bond Issue or
their distribution. The statements made in this paragraph are without prejudice to the responsibility of the
Company.
This Registration Document is subject to the general business terms of the Joint Lead Managers (as defined
below), available at their websites. Confidentiality rules and internal rules restricting the exchange of information
between different parts of the Joint Lead Managers may prevent employees of the Joint Lead Managers who are
preparing this presentation from utilizing or being aware of information available to the Joint Lead Managers
and/or affiliated companies and which may be relevant to the recipient's decisions.
Each person receiving this Registration Document acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Joint
Lead Managers or on any person affiliated with it in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such
information or its investment decision.
Oslo (Norway), 22 September 2015
Danske Bank Markets DNB Markets Nordea Markets Pareto Securities AS Swedbank Norway
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16.

Bye-Laws

Bye-laws of Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. as adopted by the Board in meeting 22 May 2013.
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BYE-LAWS
of
Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd.
INTERPRETATION
1

Interpretation
1.1

In these Bye-Laws, unless the context otherwise requires:
“Appointed Stock Exchange” means any stock exchange appointed by the
Minister of Finance (or any other Minister as may be appointed under the
Companies Acts) under section 2(9) of the Companies Act;
“Bermuda” means the Islands of Bermuda;
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company or the Directors
present at a meeting of Directors at which there is a quorum;
“clear days” means, in relation to the period of a notice, that period excluding
the day on which the notice is given or served, or deemed to be given or served,
and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;
“the Companies Acts” means every Bermuda statute from time to time in
force concerning companies insofar as the same applies to the Company;
“Company” means the company incorporated in Bermuda under the name of
Leif Höegh & Co. Holdings Limited on 6 November 2006, which
changed its name to Leif Höegh & Co. Limited on 28 December 2006 and
changed its name to Höegh LNG Holdings Ltd. on 9 June 2010;
“Director” means such person or persons as shall be appointed to the Board
from time to time pursuant to these Bye-Laws;
“Indemnified Person” means any Director, Officer, Resident Representative,
member of a committee duly constituted under these Bye-Laws and any
liquidator, manager or trustee for the time being acting in relation to the affairs
of the Company, and his heirs, executors and administrators;
“Nomination Committee” means the nomination committee of the Board
described in Bye-law 19.7;
“Officer” means a person appointed by the Board pursuant to these Bye-Laws
and shall not include an auditor of the Company;
“paid up” means paid up or credited as paid up;
“Register” means the Register of Shareholders of the Company and except in
Bye-law 12, includes any branch register;

2

“Registered Office” means the registered office for the time being of the
Company;
“Resident Representative” means (if any) the individual or company)
appointed to perform the duties of resident representative set out in the
Companies Acts and includes any assistant or deputy Resident Representative
appointed by the Board to perform any of the duties of the Resident
Representative;
“Resolution” means a resolution of the Shareholders passed in general meeting
or, where required, of a separate class or separate classes of shareholders passed in
a separate general meeting or in either case adopted by resolution in writing, in
accordance with the provisions of these Bye-Laws;
“Seal” means the common seal of the Company and includes any authorised
duplicate thereof;
“Secretary” includes a joint, temporary, assistant or deputy Secretary and the
individual or the company appointed by the Board to perform any of the duties
of the Secretary;
“share” means share in the capital of the Company and includes a fraction of a
share;
“Shareholder” means a shareholder or member of the Company provided that
for the purposes of Bye-Law 47 it shall also include any holder of notes,
debentures or bonds issued by the Company;
“Specified Place” means the place, if any, specified in the notice of any
meeting of the shareholders, or adjourned meeting of the shareholders, at which
the Chairman of the meeting shall preside;
“Subsidiary” and “Holding Company” have the same meanings as in
section 86 of the Companies Act 1981, except that references in that section to a
company shall include any body corporate or other legal entity, whether
incorporated or established in Bermuda or elsewhere; and
“these Bye-Laws” means these Bye-Laws in their present form or as from time
to time amended.
1.2

For the purposes of these Bye-Laws, a corporation which is a shareholder shall
be deemed to be present in person at a general meeting if, in accordance with
the Companies Acts, its authorised representative is present.

1.3

Words importing only the singular number include the plural number and vice
versa.

1.4

Words importing only the masculine gender include the feminine and neuter
genders respectively.

1.5

Words importing persons include companies or associations or bodies of
persons, whether corporate or un-incorporate.
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1.6

A reference to writing shall include typewriting, printing, lithography,
photography and electronic record.

1.7

Any words or expressions defined in the Companies Acts in force at the date
when these Bye-Laws or any part thereof are adopted shall bear the same
meaning in these Bye-Laws or such part (as the case may be).

1.8

A reference to anything being done by electronic means includes its being done
by means of any electronic or other communications equipment or facilities and
reference to any communication being delivered or received, or being delivered
or received at a particular place, includes the transmission of an electronic record
to a recipient identified in such manner or by such means as the Board may from
time to time approve or prescribe, either generally or for a particular purpose.

1.9

A reference to a signature or to anything being signed or executed includes such
forms of electronic signature or other means of verifying the authenticity of an
electronic record as the Board may from time to time approve or prescribe,
either generally or for a particular purpose.

1.10

A reference to any statute or statutory provision (whether in Bermuda or
elsewhere) includes a reference to any modification or re-enactment of it for the
time being in force and to every rule, regulation or order made under it (or
under any such modification or re-enactment) and for the time being in force
and any reference to any rule, regulation or order made under any such statute or
statutory provision includes a reference to any modification or replacement of
such rule, regulation or order for the time being in force.
REGISTERED OFFICE

2

Registered Office
The Registered Office shall be at such place in Bermuda as the Board shall from time
to time appoint.
SHARES AND SHARE RIGHTS

3

Share Rights
3.1

Subject to any special rights conferred on the holders of any share or class of
shares, any share in the Company may be issued with or have attached thereto
such preferred, deferred, qualified or other special rights or such restrictions,
whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the
Company may by Resolution determine or, if there has not been any such
determination or so far as the same shall not make specific provision, as the
Board may determine.

3.2

Subject to the Companies Acts, any preference shares may, with the sanction
of a resolution of the Board, be issued on terms:
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3.2.1

that they are to be redeemed on the happening of a specified event or
on a given date; and/or,

3.2.2

that they are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company;
and/or,

3.2.3

if authorised by the memorandum of association of the Company, that
they are liable to be redeemed at the option of the holder.

The terms and manner of redemption shall be provided for in such resolution of
the Board and shall be attached to but shall not form part of these Bye-Laws.
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3.3

The Board may, at its discretion and without the sanction of a Resolution,
authorise the purchase by the Company of its own shares, of any class, at any
price (whether at par or above or below par), and any shares to be so
purchased may be selected in any manner whatsoever, upon such terms as the
Board may in its discretion determine, provided always that such purchase is
effected in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts. The whole
or any part of the amount payable on any such purchase may be paid or
satisfied otherwise than in cash, to the extent permitted by the Companies Act.

3.4

The Board may, at its discretion and without the sanction of a Resolution,
authorise the acquisition by the Company of its own shares, of any class, at any
price (whether at par or above or below par), and any shares to be so
purchased may be selected in any manner whatsoever, to be held as treasury
shares, upon such terms as the Board may in its discretion determine, provided
always that such acquisition is effected in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Acts. The whole or any part of the amount payable on any such
acquisition may be paid or satisfied otherwise than in cash, to the extent
permitted by the Companies Acts. The Company shall be entered in the
Register as a Shareholder in respect of the shares held by the Company as
treasury shares and shall be a Shareholder of the Company but subject always
to the provisions of the Companies Acts and for the avoidance of doubt the
Company shall not exercise any rights and shall not enjoy or participate in any
of the rights attaching to those shares save as expressly provided for in the
Companies Act.

Modification of Rights
4.1

Subject to the Companies Acts, all or any of the special rights for the time
being attached to any class of shares for the time being issued may from time to
time (whether or not the Company is being wound up) be altered or
abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than seventy
five percent (75%) of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of such shares
voting in person or by proxy. To any such separate general meeting, all the
provisions of these Bye-Laws as to general meetings of the Company shall
mutatis mutandis apply, but so that the necessary quorum shall be two (2)
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persons holding or representing by proxy at least one third (1/3) of the shares
of the relevant class, that every holder of shares of the relevant class shall be
entitled on a poll to one vote for every such share held by him and that any
holder of shares of the relevant class present in person or by proxy may
demand a poll; provided, however, that if the Company or a class of
Shareholders shall have only one Shareholder, one Shareholder present in
person or by proxy shall constitute the necessary quorum.
4.2

5

For the purposes of this Bye-Law, unless otherwise expressly provided by the
rights attached to any shares or class of shares, those rights attaching to any class
of shares for the time being shall not be deemed to be altered by:
4.2.1

the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them;

4.2.2

the creation or issue for full value (as determined by the Board) of
further shares ranking as regards to participation in the profits or assets
of the Company or otherwise in priority to them; or

4.2.3

the purchase or redemption by the Company of any of its own shares.

Authority to Allot Shares and Pre-emption Rights
5.1

The Board has general and unconditional authority to exercise all the powers of
the Company to allot shares in the Company or to grant rights to subscribe for
or to convert any security into shares in the Company (or to transfer any shares it
holds which are treasury shares).

5.2

The unissued shares of the Company (whether forming part of the original
capital or any increased capital) shall be at the disposal of the Board, which may
offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, at
such times and for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the
Board may determine.

5.3

Any shares of the Company held by the Company as treasury shares shall be at
the disposal of the Board, which may hold all or any of the shares, dispose of or
transfer all or any of the shares for cash or other consideration, or cancel all or
any of the shares.

5.4

The Board may in connection with the issue of any shares exercise all powers of
paying commission and brokerage conferred or permitted by law. Subject to the
provisions of the Companies Acts, any such commission or brokerage may be
satisfied by the payment of cash or by the allotment of fully or partly paid shares
or partly in one way and partly in the other.

5.5

Shares may be issued in fractional denominations and in such event the
Company shall deal with such fractions to the same extent as its whole shares, so
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that a share in a fractional denomination shall have, in proportion to the fraction
of a whole share that it represents, all the rights of a whole share, including (but
without limiting the generality of the foregoing) the right to vote, to receive
dividends and distributions and to participate in a winding-up.
5.6
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Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law,
no person shall be recognised by the Company as holding any share upon trust
and the Company shall not be bound by or required in any way to recognise
(even when having notice thereof) any equitable, contingent, future or partial
interest in any share or in any fractional part of a share or (except only as
otherwise provided in these Bye-Laws or by law) any other right in respect of
any share except an absolute right to the entirety thereof in the registered
holder.

Depositary Interest
The Directors shall, subject to the Companies Acts, any other applicable laws and
regulations, the facilities and requirements of the system maintained by
Verdipapirsentralen ASA or any relevant system concerned and these Bye-Laws, have
the power to implement and/or approve any arrangements they may, in their absolute
discretion, deem fit in relation to (without limitation) the evidencing of title to and the
transfer of depository or similar interests in shares in the capital of the Company in the
form of depositary interests or similar interests, instruments or securities, and to the
extent such arrangements are so implemented, no provision of these Bye-Laws shall
apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any respect inconsistent with the holding or
transfer thereof or the shares in the capital of the Company represented thereby. The
Directors may from time to time take such actions and do such things as they may, in
their absolute discretion, think fit in relation to the operation of any such arrangements
including, without limitation, treating holders of any depository or similar interests
relating to shares as if they were the holders directly thereof for the purposes of
compliance with any obligations imposed under these Bye-Laws on members.

7

Certificates
7.1

No share certificates shall be issued by the Company unless, in respect of a class
of shares, the Board has either for all or for some holders of such shares (who
may be determined in such manner as the Board thinks fit) determined that the
holder of such shares may be entitled to share certificates. In the case of a share
held jointly by several persons, delivery of a certificate to one of several joint
holders shall be sufficient delivery to all.

7.2

If a share certificate is defaced, lost or destroyed, it may be replaced without fee
but on such terms (if any) as to evidence and indemnity and to payment of the
costs and out of pocket expenses of the Company in investigating such
evidence and preparing such indemnity as the Board may think fit and, in case
of defacement, on delivery of the old certificate to the Company.

7
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7.3

All certificates for share or loan capital or other securities of the Company
(other than letters of allotment, scrip certificates and other like documents)
shall, except to the extent that the terms and conditions for the time being
relating thereto otherwise provide, be in such form as the Board may
determine and issued under the Seal or signed by a Director, the Secretary or
any person authorised by the Board for that purpose. The Board may by
resolution determine, either generally or in any particular case, that any
signatures on any such certificates need not be autographic but may be affixed
to such certificates by some mechanical means or may be printed thereon or
that such certificates need not be signed by any persons, or may determine that
a representation of the Seal may be printed on any such certificates. If any
person holding an office in the Company who has signed, or whose facsimile
signature has been used on, any certificate ceases for any reason to hold his
office, such certificate may nevertheless be issued as though that person had not
ceased to hold such office.

7.4

For such time as any securities of the Company are traded on an Appointed
Stock Exchange, nothing in these Bye-Laws shall prevent title to any securities
of the Company from being evidenced and/or transferred without a written
instrument in accordance with the rules or regulations applicable to shares
listed on any such Appointed Stock Exchange, and the Board shall have power
to implement any arrangements which it may think fit for such evidencing
and/or transfer.

Uncertificated Shares
8.1

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Board may permit the
holding of shares in any class of shares in uncertificated form and the transfer of title
to shares in that class by means of the system maintained by Verdipapirsentralen
ASA or any other relevant system and may determine that any class of shares shall
cease to be a participating security.

8.2

Shares in the capital of the Company that fall within a certain class shall not form a
separate class of shares from other shares in that class because any share in that class
is held in uncertificated form.

8.3

Where any class of shares is uncertificated and the Company is entitled under any
provision of the Companies Acts or these Bye-Laws to sell, transfer or otherwise
dispose of, forfeit, re-allot, accept the surrender of, or otherwise enforce a lien
over, a share held in uncertificated form, the Company shall be entitled, subject to
the provisions of the Companies Acts or these Bye-Laws and the facilities and
requirements of the relevant system:
8.3.1

to require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice to change
that share into certificated form within the period specified in the
notice and to hold that share in certificated form so long as required by
the Company;

8

9

8.3.2

to require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice to give any
instructions necessary to transfer title to that share by means of the
relevant system within the period specified in the notice;

8.3.3

to require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice to appoint
any person to take any step, including, without limitation, the giving of
any instructions by means of the relevant system, necessary to transfer
that share within the period specified in the notice; and

8.3.4

to take any action that the Board considers appropriate to achieve the
sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, re-allotment or surrender of that
share, or otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of that share.

Lien
9.1

The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a
fully paid share) for all monies, whether presently payable or not, called or
payable, at a date fixed by or in accordance with the terms of issue of such
share in respect of such share, and the Company shall also have a first and
paramount lien on every share (other than a fully paid share) standing
registered in the name of a Shareholder, whether singly or jointly with any
other person, for all the debts and liabilities of such Shareholder or his estate to
the Company, whether the same shall have been incurred before or after
notice to the Company of any interest of any person other than such
Shareholder, and whether the time for the payment or discharge of the same
shall have actually arrived or not, and notwithstanding that the same are joint
debts or liabilities of such Shareholder or his estate and any other person,
whether a Shareholder or not. The Company's lien on a share shall extend to
all dividends payable thereon. The Board may at any time, either generally or
in any particular case, waive any lien that has arisen or declare any share to be
wholly or in part exempt from the provisions of this Bye-Law.

9.2

The Company may sell, in such manner as the Board may think fit, any share
on which the Company has a lien but no sale shall be made unless some sum in
respect of which the lien exists is presently payable nor until the expiration of
seven (7) days after a notice in writing, stating and demanding payment of the
sum presently payable and giving notice of the intention to sell in default of
such payment, has been served on the holder for the time being of the share.

9.3

The net proceeds of sale by the Company of any shares on which it has a lien
shall be applied in or towards payment or discharge of the debt or liability in
respect of which the lien exists so far as the same is presently payable, and any
residue shall (subject to a like lien for debts or liabilities not presently payable as
existed upon the share prior to the sale) be paid to the person who was the
holder of the share immediately before such sale. For giving effect to any such
sale, the Board may authorise some person to transfer the share sold to the
purchaser thereof. The purchaser shall be registered as the holder of the share
and he shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money, nor
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shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the
proceedings relating to the sale.
9.4

Whenever any law for the time being of any country, state or place imposes or
purports to impose any immediate or future or possible liability upon the
Company to make any payment or empowers any government or taxing
authority or government official to require the Company to make any
payment in respect of any shares registered in any of the Company’s registers as
held either jointly or solely by any Shareholder or in respect of any dividends,
bonuses or other monies due or payable or accruing due or which may
become due or payable to such Shareholder by the Company on or in respect
of any shares registered as aforesaid or for or on account or in respect of any
Shareholder and whether in consequence of:
9.4.1

the death of such Shareholder;

9.4.2

the non-payment of any income tax or other tax by such Shareholder;

9.4.3

the non-payment of any estate, probate, succession, death, stamp, or
other duty by the executor or administrator of such Shareholder or by or
out of his estate; or

9.4.4

any other act or thing;

in every such case (except to the extent that the rights conferred upon holders
of any class of shares render the Company liable to make additional payments
in respect of sums withheld on account of the foregoing):
9.4.5

the Company shall be fully indemnified by such Shareholder or his
executor or administrator from all liability;

9.4.6

the Company shall have a lien upon all dividends and other monies
payable in respect of the shares registered in any of the Company’s
registers as held either jointly or solely by such Shareholder for all
monies paid or payable by the Company in respect of such shares or in
respect of any dividends or other monies as aforesaid thereon or for or
on account or in respect of such Shareholder under or in consequence
of any such law together with interest at the rate of seven per cent (7%)
per annum thereon from the date of payment to date of repayment and
may deduct or set off against such dividends or other monies payable as
aforesaid any monies paid or payable by the Company as aforesaid
together with interest as aforesaid;

9.4.7

the Company may recover as a debt due from such Shareholder or his
executor or administrator wherever constituted any monies paid by the
Company under or in consequence of any such law and interest
thereon at the rate and for the period aforesaid in excess of any
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dividends or other monies as aforesaid then due or payable by the
Company; and
9.4.8

9.5
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the Company may, if any such money is paid or payable by it under
any such law as aforesaid, refuse to register a transfer of any shares by
any such Shareholder or his executor or administrator until such money
and interest as aforesaid is set off or deducted as aforesaid, or in case the
same exceeds the amount of any such dividends or other monies as
aforesaid then due or payable by the Company, until such excess is paid
to the Company.

Subject to the rights conferred upon the holders of any class of shares, nothing
herein contained shall prejudice or affect any right or remedy which any law
may confer or purport to confer on the Company and as between the
Company and every such Shareholder as aforesaid, his estate representative,
executor, administrator and estate wheresoever constituted or situate, any right
or remedy which such law shall confer or purport to confer on the Company
shall be enforceable by the Company.

Calls on Shares
10.1

The Board may from time to time make calls upon the Shareholders (for the
avoidance of doubt excluding the Company in respect of any nil or partly paid
shares held by the Company as treasury shares) in respect of any monies unpaid
on their shares (whether on account of the par value of the shares or by way of
premium) and not by the terms of issue thereof made payable at a date fixed by
or in accordance with such terms of issue, and each Shareholder shall (subject
to the Company serving upon him at least fourteen (14) days notice specifying
the time or times and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or
times and place so specified the amount called on his shares. A call may be
revoked or postponed as the Board may determine.

10.2

A call may be made payable by instalments and shall be deemed to have been
made at the time when the resolution of the Board authorising the call was
passed.

10.3

The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in
respect thereof.

10.4

If a sum called in respect of the share shall not be paid before or on the day
appointed for payment thereof the person from whom the sum is due shall pay
interest on the sum from the day appointed for the payment thereof to the
time of actual payment at such rate as the Board may determine, but the Board
shall be at liberty to waive payment of such interest wholly or in part.

10.5

Any sum which, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable on allotment
or at any date fixed by or in accordance with such terms of issue, whether on
account of the nominal amount of the share or by way of premium, shall for all
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the purposes of these Bye-Laws be deemed to be a call duly made, notified and
payable on the date on which, by the terms of issue, the same becomes payable
and, in case of non-payment, all the relevant provisions of these Bye-Laws as
to payment of interest, forfeiture or otherwise shall apply as if such sum had
become payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.
10.6
11

The Board may on the issue of shares differentiate between the allottees or
holders as to the amount of calls to be paid and the times of payment.

Forfeiture of Shares
11.1

If a Shareholder fails to pay any call or instalment of a call on the day
appointed for payment thereof, the Board may at any time thereafter during
such time as any part of such call or instalment remains unpaid serve a notice
on him requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid,
together with any interest which may have accrued.

11.2

The notice shall name a further day (not being less than seven (7) days from
the date of the notice) on or before which, and the place where, the payment
required by the notice is to be made and shall state that, in the event of nonpayment on or before the day and at the place appointed, the shares in respect
of which such call is made or instalment is payable will be liable to be forfeited.
The Board may accept the surrender of any share liable to be forfeited
hereunder and, in such case, references in these Bye-Laws to forfeiture shall
include surrender.

11.3

If the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not complied with, any
share in respect of which such notice has been given may at any time
thereafter, before payment of all calls or instalments and interest due in respect
thereof has been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the Board to that effect.
Such forfeiture shall include all dividends declared in respect of the forfeited
shares and not actually paid before the forfeiture.

11.4

When any share has been forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be served
upon the person who was before forfeiture the holder of the share but no
forfeiture shall be in any manner invalidated by any omission or neglect to give
such notice as aforesaid.

11.5

A forfeited share shall be deemed to be the property of the Company and may
be sold, re-offered or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was,
before forfeiture, the holder thereof or entitled thereto or to any other person
upon such terms and in such manner as the Board shall think fit, and at any
time before a sale, re-allotment or disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled
on such terms as the Board may think fit.

11.6

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall thereupon cease to be a
Shareholder in respect of the forfeited shares but shall, notwithstanding the
forfeiture, remain liable to pay to the Company all monies which at the date of
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forfeiture were presently payable by him to the Company in respect of the
shares with interest thereon at such rate as the Board may determine from the
date of forfeiture until payment, and the Company may enforce payment
without being under any obligation to make any allowance for the value of the
shares forfeited.
11.7

An affidavit in writing that the deponent is a Director of the Company or the
Secretary and that a share has been duly forfeited on the date stated in the
affidavit shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein stated as against all
persons claiming to be entitled to the share. The Company may receive the
consideration (if any) given for the share on the sale, re-allotment or
disposition thereof and the Board may authorise some person to transfer the
share to the person to whom the same is sold, re-allotted or disposed of, and he
shall thereupon be registered as the holder of the share and shall not be bound
to see to the application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title to the
share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to
the forfeiture, sale, re-allotment or disposal of the share.
REGISTER OF SHAREHOLDERS
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Register of Shareholders
12.1

The Register shall be kept at the Registered Office or at such other place in
Bermuda as the Board may from time to time direct, in the manner prescribed
by the Companies Acts. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the
Company may keep one or more overseas or branch registers in any place, and
the Board may make, amend and revoke any such regulations as it may think
fit respecting the keeping of such registers. The Board may authorise any share
on the Register to be included in a branch register or any share registered on a
branch register to be registered on another branch register, provided that at all
times the Register is maintained in accordance with the Companies Acts.

12.2

The Register or any branch register may be closed at such times and for such
period as the Board may from time to time decide, subject to the Companies
Acts. Except during such time as it is closed, the Register and each branch
register shall be open to inspection in the manner prescribed by the Companies
Acts between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon (or between such other times as the
Board from time to time determines) on every working day. Unless the Board
so determines, no Shareholder or intending Shareholder shall be entitled to
have entered in the Register or any branch register any indication of any trust
or any equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any share or any
fractional part of a share and if any such entry exists or is permitted by the
Board it shall not be deemed to abrogate any of the provisions of Bye-Law 5.5.
REGISTER OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
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Register of Directors and Officers
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The Secretary shall establish and maintain a register of the Directors and Officers of
the Company as required by the Companies Acts. The register of Directors and
Officers shall be open to inspection in the manner prescribed by the Companies Acts
between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon on every working day.
TRANSFER OF SHARES
14

Transfer of Shares
14.1

Subject to the Companies Acts and to such of the restrictions contained in
these Bye-Laws as may be applicable, any Shareholder may transfer all or any
of his shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual common form or in any
other form which the Board may approve. No such instrument shall be
required on the redemption of a share or on the purchase by the Company of a
share. All transfers of uncertificated shares shall be made in accordance with
and be subject to the facilities and requirements of the transfer of title to shares
in that class by means of the system maintained by Verdipapirsentralen ASA or
any other relevant system concerned and, subject thereto, in accordance with
any arrangements made by the Board pursuant to Bye-Law 8.

14.2

The instrument of transfer of a share shall be signed by or on behalf of the
transferor and where any share is not fully-paid, the transferee. The transferor
shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share until the name of the
transferee is entered in the Register in respect thereof. All instruments of
transfer when registered may be retained by the Company. The Board may, in
its absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefor, decline to
register any transfer of any share which is not a fully-paid share. The Board
may also decline to register any transfer unless:
14.2.1 the instrument of transfer is duly stamped (if required by law) and
lodged with the Company, at such place as the Board shall appoint for
the purpose, accompanied by the certificate for the shares (if any has
been issued) to which it relates, and such other evidence as the Board
may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the
transfer;
14.2.2 the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share;
14.2.3 where applicable, the permission of the Bermuda Monetary Authority
with respect thereto has been obtained; and
14.2.4 it is satisfied that all applicable consents, authorisations, permissions or
approvals of any governmental body or agency in Bermuda or any
other applicable jurisdiction required to be obtained under relevant law
prior to such transfer have been obtained.

14.3

The Board may also decline to register any transfer if such transfer would result
in 50% or more of the shares or votes being held, controlled or owned directly
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or indirectly by individuals or legal persons resident for tax purposes in
Norway or, alternatively, such shares or votes being effectively connected to a
Norwegian business activity, in order to avoid the Company being deemed a
“Controlled Foreign Company” pursuant to Norwegian tax rules.
14.4

Subject to any directions of the Board from time to time in force, the Secretary
may exercise the powers and discretions of the Board under this Bye-Law.

14.5

If the Board declines to register a transfer it shall, within three (3) months after
the date on which the instrument of transfer was lodged, send to the transferee
notice of such refusal.

14.6 No fee shall be charged by the Company for registering any transfer, probate,
letters of administration, certificate of death or marriage, power of attorney,
stop notice, order of court or other instrument relating to or affecting the title
to any share, or otherwise making an entry in the Register relating to any
share.
TRANSMISSION OF SHARES
15

Transmission of Shares
15.1

In the case of the death of a Shareholder, the survivor or survivors, where the
deceased was a joint holder, and the estate representative, where he was sole
holder, shall be the only person recognised by the Company as having any title
to his shares; but nothing herein contained shall release the estate of a deceased
holder (whether the sole or joint) from any liability in respect of any share held
by him solely or jointly with other persons. For the purpose of this Bye-Law,
estate representative means the person to whom probate or letters of
administration has or have been granted in Bermuda or, failing any such
person, such other person as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
to be the person recognised by the Company for the purpose of this Bye-Law.

15.2

Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death of a
Shareholder or otherwise by operation of applicable law may, subject as
hereafter provided and upon such evidence being produced as may from time
to time be required by the Board as to his entitlement, either be registered
himself as the holder of the share or elect to have some person nominated by
him registered as the transferee thereof. If the person so becoming entitled
elects to be registered himself, he shall deliver or send to the Company a notice
in writing signed by him stating that he so elects. If he shall elect to have his
nominee registered, he shall signify his election by signing an instrument of
transfer of such share in favour of his nominee. All the limitations, restrictions
and provisions of these Bye-Laws relating to the right to transfer and the
registration of transfer of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or
instrument of transfer as aforesaid as if the death of the Shareholder or other
event giving rise to the transmission had not occurred and the notice or
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instrument of transfer was an instrument of transfer signed by such
Shareholder.
15.3

A person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death of a
Shareholder or otherwise by operation of applicable law shall (upon such
evidence being produced as may from time to time be required by the Board
as to his entitlement) be entitled to receive and may give a discharge for any
dividends or other monies payable in respect of the share, but he shall not be
entitled in respect of the share to receive notices of or to attend or vote at
general meetings of the Company or, save as aforesaid, to exercise in respect of
the share any of the rights or privileges of a Shareholder until he shall have
become registered as the holder thereof. The Board may at any time give
notice requiring such person to elect either to be registered himself or to
transfer the share and, if the notice is not complied with within sixty (60) days,
the Board may thereafter withhold payment of all dividends and other monies
payable in respect of the shares until the requirements of the notice have been
complied with.

15.4 Subject to any directions of the Board from time to time in force, the Secretary
may exercise the powers and discretions of the Board under this Bye-Law.
SHARE CAPITAL
16
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Increase of Capital
16.1

The Company may from time to time increase its capital by such sum to be
divided into shares of such par value as the Company by Resolution shall
prescribe.

16.2

The Company may, by the Resolution increasing the capital, direct that the
new shares or any of them shall be offered in the first instance either at par or
at a premium or (subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts) at a discount
to all the holders for the time being of shares of any class or classes in
proportion to the number of such shares held by them respectively or make
any other provision as to the issue of the new shares.

16.3

The new shares shall be subject to all the provisions of these Bye-Laws with
reference to lien, the payment of calls, forfeiture, transfer, transmission and
otherwise.

Alteration of Capital
17.1

The Company may from time to time by Resolution:
17.1.1 divide its shares into several classes and attach thereto respectively any
preferential, deferred, qualified or special rights, privileges or
conditions;
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17.1.2 consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger
par value than its existing shares;
17.1.3 sub-divide its shares or any of them into shares of smaller par value than
is fixed by its memorandum, so, however, that in the sub-division the
proportion between the amount paid and the amount, if any, unpaid
on each reduced share shall be the same as it was in the case of the
share from which the reduced share is derived;
17.1.4 make provision for the issue and allotment of shares which do not carry
any voting rights;
17.1.5 cancel shares which, at the date of the passing of the Resolution in that
behalf, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person, and
diminish the amount of its share capital by the amount of the shares so
cancelled; and
17.1.6 change the currency denomination of its share capital.
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17.2

Where any difficulty arises in regard to any division, consolidation, or subdivision under this Bye-Law, the Board may settle the same as it thinks
expedient and, in particular, may arrange for the sale of the shares representing
fractions and the distribution of the net proceeds of sale in due proportion
amongst the Shareholders who would have been entitled to the fractions, and
for this purpose the Board may authorise some person to transfer the shares
representing fractions to the purchaser thereof, who shall not be bound to see
to the application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the shares be
affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the sale.

17.3

Subject to the Companies Acts and to any confirmation or consent required by
law or these Bye-Laws, the Company may by Resolution from time to time
convert any preference shares into redeemable preference shares.

Reduction of Capital
18.1

Subject to the Companies Acts, its memorandum and any confirmation or
consent required by law or these Bye-Laws, the Company may from time to
time by Resolution authorise the reduction of its issued share capital or any
share premium account in any manner.

18.2

In relation to any such reduction, the Company may by Resolution determine
the terms upon which such reduction is to be effected including, in the case of
a reduction of part only of a class of shares, those shares to be affected.
GENERAL MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS IN WRITING
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General Meetings and Resolutions in Writing
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19.1

The Board shall convene and the Company shall hold general meetings as
Annual General Meetings in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Acts at such times and places as the Board shall appoint. The
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, and shall, when requisitioned by
shareholders pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Acts, convene
general meetings other than Annual General Meetings which shall be called
Special General Meetings, at such times and places as the Board may appoint.

19.2

Except in the case of the removal of auditors or Directors, anything which may
be done by resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting or by resolution
of any class of Shareholders in a separate general meeting may be done by
resolution in writing, signed by the Shareholders (or the holders of such class
of shares) who at the date of the notice of the resolution in writing represent
the majority of votes that would be required if the resolution had been voted
on at a meeting of the Shareholders. Such resolution in writing may be signed
by the Shareholder or its proxy, or in the case of a Shareholder that is a
corporation (whether or not a company within the meaning of the Companies
Acts) by its representative on behalf of such Shareholder, in as many
counterparts as may be necessary.

19.3

Notice of any resolution in writing to be made under this Bye-Law shall be
given to all the Shareholders who would be entitled to attend a meeting and
vote on the resolution. The requirement to give notice of any resolution in
writing to be made under this Bye-Law to such Shareholders shall be satisfied
by giving to those Shareholders a copy of that resolution in writing in the same
manner as that required for a notice of a general meeting of the Company at
which the resolution could have been considered, except that the length of the
period of notice shall not apply. The date of the notice shall be set out in the
copy of the resolution in writing.

19.4

The accidental omission to give notice, in accordance with this Bye-Law, of a
resolution in writing to, or the non-receipt of such notice by, any person
entitled to receive such notice shall not invalidate the passing of the resolution
in writing.

19.5

For the purposes of this Bye-Law, the date of the resolution in writing is the date
when the resolution in writing is signed by, or on behalf of, the Shareholder
who establishes the majority of votes required for the passing of the resolution in
writing and any reference in any enactment to the date of passing of a resolution
is, in relation to a resolution in writing made in accordance with this Bye-Law,
a reference to such date.

19.6

A resolution in writing made in accordance with this Bye-Law is as valid as if it
had been passed by the Company in general meeting or, if applicable, by a
meeting of the relevant class of Shareholders of the Company, as the case may
be. A resolution in writing made in accordance with this Bye-Law shall
constitute minutes for the purposes of the Companies Acts and these Bye-Laws.
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19.7

20

From the time of the close of the 2012 annual general meeting of the
Company, the Company shall have a Nomination Committee consisting of
three (3) members and a majority of members shall be independent of the
executive personnel of the Company. Up to two (2) members of the
Nomination Committee may be Directors. Neither the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company nor any other executive personnel may serve on the
Nomination Committee. The members of the Nomination Committee and
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee shall be elected by Resolution of
the Company. The Company by Resolution shall determine the remuneration
of the committee. The Nomination Committee shall propose candidates to be
appointed as Directors and make recommendations to the Company in general
meeting on remuneration for the Directors. The Company by Resolution
shall adopt rules of procedure for the Nomination Committee.

Notice of General Meetings
20.1

An Annual General Meeting shall be called by not less than eighteen (18) clear
days notice in writing and a Special General Meeting shall be called by not less
than eighteen (18) clear days notice in writing. The notice shall be exclusive
of the day on which it is served or deemed to be served and of the day for
which it is given, and shall specify the place, day and time of the meeting
(including any satellite meeting place arranged for the purposes of Bye-Law
21), and, the nature of the business to be considered. Notice of every general
meeting shall be given in any manner permitted by these Bye-Laws to all
Shareholders other than such as, under the provisions of these Bye-Laws or the
terms of issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such notice
from the Company and to each Director and to any Resident Representative
who or which has delivered a written notice upon the Registered Office
requiring that such notice be sent to him or it.
Notwithstanding that a meeting of the Company is called by shorter notice
than that specified in this Bye-Law, it shall be deemed to have been duly called
if it is so agreed:
20.1.1 in the case of a meeting called as an Annual General Meeting, by all the
Shareholders entitled to attend and vote thereat;
20.1.2 in the case of any other meeting, by a majority in number of the
Shareholders having the right to attend and vote at the meeting, being
a majority together holding not less than ninety-five percent (95%) in
nominal value of the shares giving that right.

20.2

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting or (in cases where
instruments of proxy are sent out with the notice) the accidental omission to
send such instrument of proxy to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting or
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such instrument of proxy by, any person entitled to receive such notice shall
not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.
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20.3

A Shareholder present, either in person or by proxy, at any meeting of the
Company or of the holders of any class of shares in the Company shall be
deemed to have received notice of the meeting and, where requisite, of the
purposes for which it was called.

20.4

The Board may cancel or postpone a meeting of the Shareholders after it has
been convened and notice of such cancellation or postponement shall be
served in accordance with these Bye-Laws upon all Shareholders entitled to
notice of the meeting so cancelled or postponed setting out, where the
meeting is postponed to a specific date, notice of the new meeting in
accordance with this Bye-Law.

General Meetings at More than One Place
21.1

The provisions of this Bye-Law shall apply if any general meeting is convened
at or adjourned to more than one place.

21.2

The notice of any meeting or adjourned meeting may specify the Specified
Place and the Board shall make arrangements for simultaneous attendance and
participation in a satellite meeting at other places (whether adjoining the
Specified Place or in a different and separate place or places altogether or
otherwise) by Shareholders. The Shareholders present at any such satellite
meeting place in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be counted in
the quorum for, and shall be entitled to vote at, the general meeting in
question if the chairman of the general meeting is satisfied that adequate
facilities are available throughout the general meeting to ensure that
Shareholders attending at all the meeting places are able to:
21.2.1 communicate simultaneously and instantaneously with the persons
present at the other meeting place or places, whether by use of
microphones, loud-speakers, audio-visual or other communications
equipment or facilities; and
21.2.2 have access to all documents which are required by the Companies
Acts and these Bye-Laws to be made available at the meeting.

21.3

The chairman of the general meeting shall be present at, and the meeting shall
be deemed to take place at, the Specified Place. If it appears to the chairman
of the general meeting that the facilities at the Specified Place or any satellite
meeting place are or become inadequate for the purposes referred to above,
then the chairman may, without the consent of the meeting, interrupt or
adjourn the general meeting. All business conducted at that general meeting
up to the time of such adjournment shall be valid.
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21.4

The Board may from time to time make such arrangements for the purpose of
controlling the level of attendance at any such satellite meeting (whether
involving the issue of tickets or the imposition of some means of selection or
otherwise) as they shall in their absolute discretion consider appropriate, and
may from time to time vary any such arrangements or make new arrangements
in place of them, provided that a Shareholder who is not entitled to attend, in
person or by proxy, at any particular place shall be entitled so to attend at one
of the other places and the entitlement of any Shareholder so to attend the
meeting or adjourned meeting at such place shall be subject to any such
arrangements as may be for the time being in force and by the notice of
meeting or adjourned meeting stated to apply to the meeting.

21.5

If a meeting is adjourned to more than one place, notice of the adjourned
meeting shall be given in the manner required by Bye-Law 20.

Proceedings at General Meetings
22.1

In accordance with the Companies Acts, a general meeting may be held with
only one individual present provided that the requirement for a quorum is
satisfied. No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a
quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to business, but the absence of a
quorum shall not preclude the appointment, choice or election of a chairman,
which shall not be treated as part of the business of the meeting. Save as
otherwise provided by these Bye-Laws, at least two (2) Shareholders present in
person or by proxy and entitled to vote representing the holders of more than
one third (1/3rd) of the issued shares entitled to vote at such meeting shall be a
quorum for all purposes; provided, however, that if the Company or a class of
Shareholders shall have only one Shareholder, one Shareholder present in
person or by proxy shall constitute the necessary quorum.

22.2

If within five (5) minutes (or such longer time as the chairman of the meeting
may determine to wait) after the time appointed for the meeting, a quorum is
not present, the meeting, if convened on the requisition of Shareholders, shall
be dissolved. In any other case, it shall stand adjourned to such other day and
such other time and place as the chairman of the meeting may determine and
at such adjourned meeting two (2) Shareholders present in person or by proxy
and entitled to vote and representing the holders of more than one third (1/3rd)
of the issued shares entitled to vote at such meeting shall be a quorum,
provided that if the Company or a class of Shareholders shall have only one
Shareholder, one Shareholder present in person or by proxy shall constitute the
necessary quorum. The Company shall give not less than six (6) clear days
notice of any meeting adjourned through want of a quorum and such notice
shall state that the sole Shareholder or, if more than one, two (2) Shareholders
present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote and representing the holders
of more than one third (1/3rd) of the issued shares entitled to vote at such
meeting shall be a quorum. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not
present within fifteen (15) minutes after the time appointed for holding the
meeting, the meeting shall be dissolved.
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22.3

A meeting of the Shareholders or any class thereof may be held by means of
such telephone, electronic or other communication facilities (including,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, by telephone, or by video
conferencing) as permit all persons participating in the meeting to
communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously, and
participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such
meeting. If it appears to the chairman of a general meeting that the Specified
Place is inadequate to accommodate all persons entitled and wishing to attend,
the meeting is duly constituted and its proceedings are valid if the chairman is
satisfied that adequate facilities are available, whether at the Specified Place or
elsewhere, to ensure that each such person who is unable to be accommodated
at the Specified Place is able to communicate simultaneously and
instantaneously with the persons present at the Specified Place, whether by the
use of microphones, loud-speakers, audio-visual or other communications
equipment or facilities.

22.4

Subject to the Companies Acts, a resolution may only be put to a vote at a
general meeting of the Company or of any class of Shareholders if:
22.4.1 it is proposed by or at the direction of the Board; or
22.4.2 it is proposed at the direction of the Court; or
22.4.3 it is proposed on the requisition in writing of such number of
Shareholders as is prescribed by, and is made in accordance with, the
relevant provisions of the Companies Acts; or
22.4.4 the chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion decides that the
resolution may properly be regarded as within the scope of the
meeting.

22.5

No amendment may be made to a resolution, at or before the time when it is
put to a vote, unless the chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion
decides that the amendment or the amended resolution may properly be put to
a vote at that meeting.

22.6

If the chairman of the meeting rules a resolution or an amendment to a
resolution admissible or out of order (as the case may be), the proceedings of
the meeting or on the resolution in question shall not be invalidated by any
error in his ruling. Any ruling by the chairman of the meeting in relation to a
resolution or an amendment to a resolution shall be final and conclusive.

22.7

The Resident Representative, if any, upon giving the notice referred to in
Bye-Law 20.1 above, shall be entitled to attend any general meeting of the
Company and each Director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general
meeting of the Company.

22

23

22.8

The Board may choose one of their number to preside as chairman at every
general meeting. If there is no such chairman, or if at any meeting the
chairman is not present within five (5) minutes after the time appointed for
holding the meeting, or is not willing to act as chairman, the Directors present
shall choose one of their number to act or if only one Director is present he
shall preside as chairman if willing to act. If no Director is present, or if each
of the Directors present declines to take the chair, the persons present and
entitled to vote on a poll shall elect one of their number to be chairman.

22.9

The chairman of the meeting may, with the consent by resolution of any
meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting),
adjourn the meeting from time to time (or sine die) and from place to place
but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except business
which might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting from which the
adjournment took place. In addition to any other power of adjournment
conferred by law, the chairman of the meeting may at any time without
consent of the meeting adjourn the meeting (whether or not it has
commenced or a quorum is present) to another time and/or place (or sine die)
if, in his opinion, it would facilitate the conduct of the business of the meeting
to do so or if he is so directed (prior to or at the meeting) by the Board.
When a meeting is adjourned sine die, the time and place for the adjourned
meeting shall be fixed by the Board. When a meeting is adjourned for three
(3) months or more or for an indefinite period, at least twenty (20) clear days’
notice shall be given of the adjourned meeting. Save as expressly provided by
these Bye-Laws, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjournment
or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

Voting
23.1

Save where a greater majority is required by the Companies Acts or these ByeLaws, any question proposed for consideration at any general meeting shall be
decided on by a simple majority of votes cast.

23.2

Subject to Bye-Laws 40.1 and 52.2 and to any rights or restrictions attached to
any class of shares, at any meeting of the Company, each Shareholder present
in person or represented by proxy shall be entitled to one vote on any question
to be decided on a show of hands and each Shareholder present in person or
by proxy shall be entitled on a poll to one vote for each share held by him.

23.3

At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be
decided on a show of hands or by a count of votes received in the form of
electronic records, unless (before or on the declaration of the result of the show
of hands or count of votes received as electronic records or on the withdrawal of
any other demand for a poll) a poll is demanded by:
23.3.1 the chairman of the meeting; or
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23.3.2 at least three (3) Shareholders present in person or represented by
proxy; or
23.3.3 any Shareholder or Shareholders present in person or represented by
proxy and holding between them not less than one tenth (1/10) of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the right to vote at
such meeting; or
23.3.4 a Shareholder or Shareholders present in person or represented by
proxy holding shares conferring the right to vote at such meeting,
being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not
less than one tenth (1/10) of the total sum paid up on all such shares
conferring such right.
The demand for a poll may, before the poll is taken, be withdrawn but only
with the consent of the chairman and a demand so withdrawn shall not be
taken to have invalidated the result of a show of hands or count of votes
received as electronic records declared before the demand was made. If the
demand for a poll is withdrawn, the chairman or any other Shareholder
entitled may demand a poll.
Unless a poll is so demanded and the demand is not withdrawn, a declaration
by the chairman that a resolution has, on a show of hands or count of votes
received as electronic records, been carried or carried unanimously or by a
particular majority or not carried by a particular majority or lost shall be final
and conclusive, and an entry to that effect in the minute book of the Company
shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or
proportion of votes recorded for or against such resolution.
23.4

If a poll is duly demanded, the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the
resolution of the meeting at which the poll is demanded.

23.5

A poll demanded on the election of a chairman, or on a question of
adjournment, shall be taken forthwith. A poll demanded on any other
question shall be taken in such manner and either forthwith or at such time
(being not later than three (3) months after the date of the demand) and place
as the chairman shall direct and he may appoint scrutineers (who need not be
Shareholders) and fix a time and place for declaring the result of the poll. It
shall not be necessary (unless the chairman otherwise directs) for notice to be
given of a poll.

23.6

The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the
transaction of any business other than the question on which the poll has been
demanded and it may be withdrawn at any time before the close of the
meeting or the taking of the poll, whichever is the earlier.

23.7

On a poll, votes may be cast either personally or by proxy.
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23.8

A person entitled to more than one vote on a poll need not use all his votes or
cast all the votes he uses in the same way.

23.9

In the case of an equality of votes at a general meeting, whether on a show of
hands or count of votes received as electronic records or on a poll, the
chairman of such meeting shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote and
the resolution shall fail.

23.10 In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a
vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the
votes of the other joint holders, and for this purpose seniority shall be
determined by the order in which the names stand in the Register in respect of
the joint holding.
23.11 A Shareholder who is a patient for any purpose of any statute or applicable law
relating to mental health or in respect of whom an order has been made by any
Court having jurisdiction for the protection or management of the affairs of
persons incapable of managing their own affairs may vote, whether on a show
of hands or on a poll, by his receiver, committee, curator bonis or other person
in the nature of a receiver, committee or curator bonis appointed by such Court
and such receiver, committee, curator bonis or other person may vote on a poll
by proxy, and may otherwise act and be treated as such Shareholder for the
purpose of general meetings.
23.12 No Shareholder shall, unless the Board otherwise determines, be entitled to
vote at any general meeting unless all calls or other sums presently payable by
him in respect of shares in the Company have been paid.
23.13 If:
23.13.1 any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter; or,
23.13.2 any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted
or which might have been rejected; or,
23.13.3 any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,
the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting or adjourned
meeting on any resolution unless the same is raised or pointed out at the
meeting or, as the case may be, the adjourned meeting at which the vote
objected to is given or tendered or at which the error occurs. Any objection
or error shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate
the decision of the meeting on any resolution if the chairman decides that the
same may have affected the decision of the meeting. The decision of the
chairman on such matters shall be final and conclusive.
24

Proxies and Corporate Representatives
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24.1

A Shareholder may appoint one or more persons as his proxy, with or without
the power of substitution, to represent him and vote on his behalf in respect of
all or some only of his shares at any general meeting (including an adjourned
meeting). A proxy need not be a Shareholder. The instrument appointing a
proxy shall be in writing executed by the appointor or his attorney authorised
by him in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under its seal or
executed by an officer, attorney or other person authorised to sign the same.

24.2

A Shareholder which is a corporation may, by written authorisation, appoint
any person (or two (2) or more persons in the alternative) as its representative
to represent it and vote on its behalf at any general meeting (including an
adjourned meeting) and such a corporate representative may exercise the same
powers on behalf of the corporation which he represents as that corporation
could exercise if it were an individual Shareholder and the Shareholder shall
for the purposes of these Bye-Laws be deemed to be present in person at any
such meeting if a person so authorised is present at it.

24.3

Any Shareholder may appoint a proxy or (if a corporation) representative for a
specific general meeting, and adjournments thereof, or may appoint a standing
proxy or (if a corporation) representative, by serving on the Company at the
Registered Office, or at such place or places as the Board may otherwise
specify for the purpose, a proxy or (if a corporation) an authorisation. Any
standing proxy or authorisation shall be valid for all general meetings and
adjournments thereof or resolutions in writing, as the case may be, until notice
of revocation is received at the Registered Office or at such place or places as
the Board may otherwise specify for the purpose. Where a standing proxy or
authorisation exists, its operation shall be deemed to have been suspended at
any general meeting or adjournment thereof at which the Shareholder is
present or in respect to which the Shareholder has specially appointed a proxy
or representative. The Board may from time to time require such evidence as
it shall deem necessary as to the due execution and continuing validity of any
standing proxy or authorisation and the operation of any such standing proxy
or authorisation shall be deemed to be suspended until such time as the Board
determines that it has received the requested evidence or other evidence
satisfactory to it.

24.4

Subject to Bye-Law 24.3, the instrument appointing a proxy or corporate
representative together with such other evidence as to its due execution as the
Board may from time to time require, shall be delivered at the Registered
Office (or at such place or places as may be specified in the notice convening
the meeting or in any notice of any adjournment or, in either case or the case
of a resolution in writing, in any document sent therewith) within such time as
the Board may determine, prior to the holding of the relevant meeting or
adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to
vote or, in the case of a poll taken subsequently to the date of a meeting or
adjourned meeting, before the time appointed for the taking of the poll, or, in
the case of a resolution in writing, prior to the effective date of the resolution
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in writing and in default the instrument of proxy or authorisation shall not be
treated as valid.
24.5

Instruments of proxy or authorisation shall be in any common form or in such
other form as the Board may approve and the Board may, if it thinks fit, send
out with the notice of any meeting or any resolution in writing forms of
instruments of proxy or authorisation for use at that meeting or in connection
with that resolution in writing. The instrument of proxy shall be deemed to
confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll, to speak at the
meeting and to vote on any amendment of a resolution in writing or
amendment of a resolution put to the meeting for which it is given as the
proxy thinks fit. The instrument of proxy or authorisation shall, unless the
contrary is stated therein, be valid as well for any adjournment of the meeting
as for the meeting to which it relates. If the terms of the appointment of a
proxy include a power of substitution, any proxy appointed by substitution
under such power shall be deemed to be the proxy of the Shareholder who
conferred such power. All the provisions of these Bye-Laws relating to the
execution and delivery of an instrument or other form of communication
appointing or evidencing the appointment of a proxy shall apply, mutatis
mutandis, to the instrument or other form of communication effecting or
evidencing such an appointment by substitution.

24.6

A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy or
authorisation shall be valid notwithstanding the previous death or unsoundness
of mind of the principal, or revocation of the instrument of proxy or of the
corporate authority, provided that no intimation in writing of such death,
unsoundness of mind or revocation shall have been received by the Company
at the Registered Office (or such other place as may be specified for the
delivery of instruments of proxy or authorisation in the notice convening the
meeting or other documents sent therewith) at least one hour before the
commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting, or the taking of the
poll, or the day before the effective date of any resolution in writing at which
the instrument of proxy or authorisation is used.

24.7

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Board may at its discretion waive any of
the provisions of these Bye-Laws related to proxies or authorisations and, in
particular, may accept such verbal or other assurances as it thinks fit as to the
right of any person to attend, speak and vote on behalf of any Shareholder at
general meetings or to sign resolutions in writing.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Appointment and Removal of Directors
25.1

Each Director will be designated by Resolution as either a class I Director, or a
class II Director. There is no distinction in the voting or other powers and
authorities of Directors of different classes; the classifications are solely for the
purposes of the retirement by rotation provisions set out in Bye-Laws 25.3,
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and 25.4 . The Board shall from time to time by resolution determine the
respective numbers of class I Directors and class II Directors.
25.2

Upon resignation or termination of office of any Director, if a new Director
shall be appointed to the Board he will be designated to fill the vacancy arising
and shall, for the purposes of these Bye-Laws, constitute a member of the class
of Directors represented by the person that he replaces.

25.3

Each class I Director shall (unless his office is vacated in accordance with these
Bye-Laws) serve initially until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting
of the Company held in the calendar year 2012 and subsequently shall (unless
his office is vacated in accordance with these Bye-Laws) serve for two-year
terms, each concluding at the second Annual General Meeting after the class I
Directors together were last appointed or re-appointed.

25.4

Each class II Director shall (unless his office is vacated in accordance with these
Bye-Laws) serve initially until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting
of the Company held in the calendar year 2013 and subsequently shall (unless
his office is vacated in accordance with these Bye-Laws) serve for two-year
terms, each concluding at the second Annual General Meeting after the class II
Directors together were last appointed or re-appointed.

25.5

Any Director retiring at an Annual General Meeting will be eligible for reappointment and will retain office until the close of the meeting at which he
retires or (if earlier) until a Resolution is passed at that meeting not to fill the
vacancy or the resolution to re-appoint him is put to a vote at the meeting and
is lost.

25.6

If the Company, at the meeting at which a Director (of any class) retires by
rotation or otherwise, does not fill the vacancy, the retiring Director shall, if
willing to act, be deemed to have been re-appointed unless at the meeting it is
resolved not to fill the vacancy or unless a resolution for the re-appointment of
the Director is put to the meeting and lost.

25.7

No person other than a Director retiring by rotation shall be appointed a
Director at any general meeting unless:
25.7.1 he is recommended by the Board or any committee of the Board;
25.7.2 he is recommended by the Nomination Committee; or
25.7.3 he is nominated by a Shareholder or group of Shareholders who hold
or represent at least one tenth (1/10) of the shares entitled to vote on
the election of Directors.

25.8

The appointment of any person proposed as a Director shall be effected by a
separate Resolution. The Resolution appointing any Director must designate
the Director as a class I or class II Director.
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25.9

All Directors, upon election or appointment (except upon re-election or reappointment at an Annual General Meeting), must provide written acceptance
of their appointment, in such form as the Board may think fit, by notice in
writing to the Registered Office within thirty (30) days of their appointment.

25.10 The number of Directors shall be not less than two (2) and not more than
twelve (12) or such number in excess thereof as the Company by Resolution
may from time to time determine. Any one or more vacancies in the Board
not filled at any general meeting shall be deemed casual vacancies for the
purposes of these Bye-Laws. Without prejudice to the power of the Company
by Resolution in pursuance of any of the provisions of these Bye-Laws to
appoint any person to be a Director, the Board, so long as a quorum of
Directors remains in office, shall have power at any time and from time to
time, subject to Bye-laws 25.1 and 25.2, to appoint any individual to be a
Director so as to fill a casual vacancy. A Director so appointed shall hold office
only until the next following Annual General Meeting and shall not be taken
into account in determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at the
meeting. If not reappointed at such Annual General Meeting, he shall vacate
office at the conclusion thereof.
25.11 The Company may in a Special General Meeting called for that purpose
remove a Director, provided notice of any such meeting shall be served upon
the Director concerned not less than fourteen (14) days before the meeting and
he shall be entitled to be heard at that meeting. Any vacancy created by the
removal of a Director at a Special General Meeting may be filled at the meeting
by the election of another Director in his place.
26

Resignation and Disqualification of Directors
26.1

The office of a Director shall be vacated upon the happening of any of the
following events:
26.1.1 if he resigns his office by notice in writing delivered to the Registered
Office or tendered at a meeting of the Board;
26.1.2 if he becomes of unsound mind or a patient for any purpose of any
statute or applicable law relating to mental health and the Board
resolves that his office is vacated;
26.1.3 if he becomes bankrupt under the laws of any country or compounds
with his creditors;
26.1.4 if he is prohibited by law from being a Director; or
26.1.5 if he ceases to be a Director by virtue of the Companies Acts or these
Bye-Laws or is removed from office pursuant to these Bye-Laws.
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Alternate Directors
27.1

Any Director (other than an Alternate Director) may appoint any other person
(other than a Director) who is willing to act, to be an Alternate Director for
one or more Director(s) and may remove from office an Alternate Director so
appointed by him. Any appointment or removal of an Alternate Director by a
Director shall be effected by delivery of a written notice of appointment or
removal to the Secretary at the Registered Office, signed by such Director, and
such notice shall be effective immediately upon receipt or on any later date
specified in that notice. Any Alternate Director may also be removed by
resolution of the Board. An Alternate Director may act as alternate to more
than one Director.

27.2

An Alternate Director shall cease to be an Alternate Director:
27.2.1 if his appointor ceases to be a Director; but, if a Director retires by
rotation or otherwise but is reappointed or deemed to have been
reappointed at the meeting at which he retires, any appointment of an
Alternate Director made by him which was in force immediately prior
to his retirement shall continue after his reappointment;
27.2.2 on the happening of any event which, if he were a Director, would
cause him to vacate his office as Director;
27.2.3 if he is removed from office pursuant to Bye-Law 26; or
27.2.4 if he resigns his office by notice to the Company.
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27.3

An Alternate Director shall be entitled to receive notices of all meetings of
Directors, to attend, be counted in the quorum and vote at any such meeting
at which any Director to whom he is alternate is not personally present, and
generally to perform all the functions of any Director to whom he is alternate
in his absence.

27.4

Every person acting as an Alternate Director shall be subject in all respects to
the provisions of these Bye-Laws relating to Directors and shall alone be
responsible to the Company for his acts and defaults and shall not be deemed
to be the agent of or for any Director for whom he is alternate. An Alternate
Director may be paid expenses and shall be entitled to be indemnified by the
Company to the same extent mutatis mutandis as if he were a Director. Every
person acting as an Alternate Director shall have one vote for each Director for
whom he acts as alternate. The signature of an Alternate Director to any
resolution in writing of the Board or a committee of the Board shall, unless the
terms of his appointment provides to the contrary, be as effective as the
signature of the Director or Directors to whom he is alternate.

Directors’ Fees and Additional Remuneration and Expenses
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28.1 The amount, if any, of Directors' fees shall from time to time be determined by
the Company by Resolution. Unless otherwise determined to the contrary, such
fees shall be deemed to accrue from day to day. Each Director may be paid his
reasonable travel, hotel and incidental expenses in attending and returning from
meetings of the Board or committees constituted pursuant to these Bye-Laws or
general meetings and shall be paid all expenses properly and reasonably incurred
by him in the conduct of the Company's business or in the discharge of his duties
as a Director. Any Director who, by request, goes or resides abroad for any
purposes of the Company or who performs services which in the opinion of the
Board go beyond the ordinary duties of a Director may be paid such extra
remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or
otherwise) as the Board may determine, and such extra remuneration shall be in
addition to any remuneration provided for by or pursuant to any other Bye-Law.
28.2
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No Director or former Director shall be accountable to the Company or the
Shareholders for any benefit provided pursuant to this Bye-Law and the receipt
of any such benefit shall not disqualify any person from being or becoming a
Director of the Company.

Directors’ Interests
29.1

A Director may hold any other office or place of profit with the Company
(except that of auditor) in conjunction with his office of Director for such
period and upon such terms as the Board may determine, and may be paid
such extra remuneration therefor (whether by way of salary, commission,
participation in profits or otherwise) as the Board may determine, and such
extra remuneration shall be in addition to any remuneration provided for by or
pursuant to any other Bye-Law.

29.2

A Director may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the
Company (otherwise than as auditor) and he or his firm shall be entitled to
remuneration for professional services as if he were not a Director.

29.3

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, a Director may
notwithstanding his office be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any
transaction or arrangement with the Company or in which the Company is
otherwise interested; and be a director or other officer of, or employed by, or a
party to any transaction or arrangement with, or otherwise interested in, any
body corporate promoted by the Company or in which the Company is
interested. The Board may also cause the voting power conferred by the
shares in any other company held or owned by the Company to be exercised
in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit, including the exercise thereof in
favour of any resolution appointing the Directors or any of them to be
directors or officers of such other company, or voting or providing for the
payment of remuneration to the directors or officers of such other company.

29.4

So long as, where it is necessary, he declares the nature of his interest at the
first opportunity at a meeting of the Board or by writing to the Directors as
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required by the Companies Acts, a Director shall not by reason of his office be
accountable to the Company for any benefit which he derives from any office
or employment to which these Bye-Laws allow him to be appointed or from
any transaction or arrangement in which these Bye-Laws allow him to be
interested, and no such transaction or arrangement shall be liable to be avoided
on the ground of any interest or benefit.
29.5

30
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Subject to the Companies Acts and any further disclosure required thereby, a
general notice to the Directors by a Director or Officer declaring that he is a
director or officer or has an interest in a person and is to be regarded as
interested in any transaction or arrangement made with that person, shall be a
sufficient declaration of interest in relation to any transaction or arrangement so
made.

Powers and Duties of the Board
30.1

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, these Bye-Laws and to any
directions given by the Company by Resolution, the Board shall manage the
business of the Company and may pay all expenses incurred in promoting and
incorporating the Company and may exercise all the powers of the Company.
No alteration of these Bye-Laws and no such direction shall invalidate any
prior act of the Board which would have been valid if that alteration had not
been made or that direction had not been given. The powers given by this
Bye-Law shall not be limited by any special power given to the Board by these
Bye-Laws and a meeting of the Board at which a quorum is present shall be
competent to exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions for the time
being vested in or exercisable by the Board.

30.2

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company except those powers
that are required by the Companies Acts or these Bye-Laws to be exercised by
the Shareholders.

30.3

All cheques, promissory notes, drafts, bills of exchange and other instruments,
whether negotiable or transferable or not, and all receipts for money paid to
the Company shall be signed, drawn, accepted, endorsed or otherwise
executed, as the case may be, in such manner as the Board shall from time to
time by resolution determine.

Delegation of the Board’s Powers
31.1

The Board may by power of attorney appoint any company, firm or person or
any fluctuating body of persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by
the Board, to be the attorney or attorneys of the Company for such purposes
and with such powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those vested
in or exercisable by the Board under these Bye-Laws) and for such period and
subject to such conditions as it may think fit, and any such power of attorney
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may contain such provisions for the protection and convenience of persons
dealing with any such attorney and of such attorney as the Board may think fit,
and may also authorise any such attorney to sub-delegate all or any of the
powers, authorities and discretions vested in him. Such attorney may, if so
authorised by the power of attorney, execute any deed, instrument or other
document on behalf of the Company.
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31.2

The Board may entrust to and confer upon any Director, Officer or, without
prejudice to the provisions of Bye-Law 31.2, other person any of the powers,
authorities and discretions exercisable by it upon such terms and conditions
with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with, or to the
exclusion of, its own powers, authorities and discretions, and may from time to
time revoke or vary all or any of such powers, authorities and discretions, but
no person dealing in good faith and without notice of such revocation or
variation shall be affected thereby.

31.3

. The Board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions to
committees, consisting of such person or persons (whether a member or
members of its body or not) as it thinks fit. Any committee so formed shall, in
the exercise of the powers, authorities and discretions so delegated, and in
conducting its proceedings conform to any regulations which may be imposed
upon it by the Board. If no regulations are imposed by the Board the
proceedings of a committee with two (2) or more members shall be, as far as is
practicable, governed by the Bye-Laws regulating the proceedings of the Board

Proceedings of the Board
32.1

The Board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise
regulate its meetings as it thinks fit. Questions arising at any meeting shall be
determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of votes, the
motion shall be deemed to have been lost. A Director may, and the Secretary
on the requisition of a Director shall, at any time summon a meeting of the
Board.

32.2

Notice of a meeting of the Board may be given to a Director by word of
mouth or in any manner permitted by these Bye-Laws. A Director may
retrospectively waive the requirement for notice of any meeting by consenting
in writing to the business conducted at the meeting.

32.3

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board may be
fixed by the Board and, unless so fixed at any other number, shall be two (2)
individuals. Any Director who ceases to be a Director at a meeting of the
Board may continue to be present and to act as a Director and be counted in
the quorum until the termination of the meeting if no other Director objects
and if otherwise a quorum of Directors would not be present.

32.4

A Director who to his knowledge is in any way, whether directly or indirectly,
interested in a contract or proposed contract, transaction or arrangement with
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the Company and has complied with the provisions of the Companies Acts and
these Bye-Laws with regard to disclosure of his interest shall be entitled to vote
in respect of any contract, transaction or arrangement in which he is so
interested and if he shall do so his vote shall be counted, and he shall be taken
into account in ascertaining whether a quorum is present.
32.5

The Resident Representative shall, upon delivering written notice of an
address for the purposes of receipt of notice to the Registered Office, be
entitled to receive notice of, attend and be heard at, and to receive minutes of
all meetings of the Board.

32.6

So long as a quorum of Directors remains in office, the continuing Directors
may act notwithstanding any vacancy in the Board but, if no such quorum
remains, the continuing Directors or a sole continuing Director may act only
for the purpose of calling a general meeting.

32.7

The Board may choose one of their number to preside as chairman at every
meeting of the Board. If there is no such chairman, or if at any meeting the
chairman is not present within five (5) minutes after the time appointed for
holding the meeting, or is not willing to act as chairman, the meeting shall be
chaired by the deputy chairman. If there is no such deputy chairman or if at
any meeting the deputy chairman is not present within five (5) minutes after
the time appointed for holding the meeting, or is not willing to act as
chairman, the Directors present may choose one of their number to be
chairman of the meeting. However, if the chairman of the Board is, or has
been, involved in the matters to be discussed at a particular meeting, the
Board’s consideration of such matters must be chaired by another member of
the Board.

32.8

The meetings and proceedings of any committee consisting of two (2) or more
members shall be governed by the provisions contained in these Bye-Laws for
regulating the meetings and proceedings of the Board so far as the same are
applicable and are not superseded by any regulations imposed by the Board.

32.9

A resolution in writing signed by all the Directors for the time being entitled
to receive notice of a meeting of the Board or by an Alternate Director, as
provided for in these Bye-Laws or by all the members of a committee for the
time being shall be as valid and effectual as a resolution passed at a meeting of
the Board or, as the case may be, of such committee duly called and
constituted. Such resolution may be contained in one document or in several
documents in the like form each signed by one or more of the Directors or
members of the committee concerned.

32.10 A meeting of the Board or a committee appointed by the Board may be held
by means of such telephone, electronic or other communication facilities
(including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, by telephone or
by video conferencing) as permit all persons participating in the meeting to
communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously and
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participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such
meeting. Such a meeting shall be deemed to take place where the largest
group of those Directors participating in the meeting is physically assembled,
or, if there is no such group, where the chairman of the meeting then is.
32.11 All acts done by the Board or by any committee or by any person acting as a
Director or member of a committee or any person duly authorised by the
Board or any committee shall, notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered
that there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the Board or
such committee or person acting as aforesaid or that they or any of them were
disqualified or had vacated their office, be as valid as if every such person had
been duly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a Director,
member of such committee or person so authorised.
32.12 The Company may by Resolution suspend or relax to any extent, either
generally or in respect of any particular matter, any provision of these ByeLaws prohibiting a Director from voting at a meeting of the Board or of a
committee of the Board, or ratify any transaction not duly authorised by reason
of a contravention of any such provisions.
32.13 Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment
(including fixing or varying the terms of appointment) of two (2) or more
Directors to offices or employments with the Company or any body corporate
in which the Company is interested, the proposals may be divided and
considered in relation to each Director separately and in such cases each of the
Directors concerned shall be entitled to vote and be counted in the quorum in
respect of each resolution except that concerning his own appointment.
32.14 If a question arises at a meeting of the Board or a committee of the Board as to
the entitlement of a Director to vote or be counted in a quorum, the question
may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the chairman of the
meeting and his ruling in relation to any Director other than himself shall be
final and conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interests
of the Director concerned have not been fairly disclosed. If any such question
arises in respect of the chairman of the meeting, it shall be decided by
resolution of the Board (on which the chairman shall not vote) and such
resolution will be final and conclusive except in a case where the interests of
the chairman have not been fairly disclosed.
OFFICERS
33

Officers
33.1

The Officers of the Company, who may or may not be Directors, may be
appointed by the Board at any time, subject to Bye-law 33.4. Any person
appointed pursuant to this Bye-Law shall hold office for such period and upon
such terms as the Board may determine and the Board may revoke or
terminate any such appointment. Any such revocation or termination shall be
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without prejudice to any claim for damages that such Officer may have against
the Company or the Company may have against such Officer for any breach of
any contract of service between him and the Company which may be involved
in such revocation or termination. Save as provided in the Companies Acts or
these Bye-Laws, the powers and duties of the Officers of the Company shall be
such (if any) as are determined from time to time by the Board.
33.2

The emoluments of any Director holding executive office for his services as
such shall be determined by the Board, and may be of any description, and
(without limiting the generality of the foregoing) may include admission to or
continuance of membership of any scheme (including any share acquisition
scheme) or fund instituted or established or financed or contributed to by the
Company for the provision of pensions, life assurance or other benefits for
employees or their dependants, or the payment of a pension or other benefits
to him or his dependants on or after retirement or death, apart from
membership or any such scheme or fund.

33.3

Save as otherwise provided, the provisions of these Bye-Laws as to resignation
and disqualification of Directors shall mutatis mutandis apply to the resignation
and disqualification of Officers.

33.4

The chairman of the Board shall be elected by the Company by Resolution.
MINUTES
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Minutes
34.1

The Board shall cause minutes to be made and books kept for the purpose of
recording:
34.1.1 all appointments of Officers made by the Board;
34.1.2 the names of the Directors and other persons (if any) present at each
meeting of the Board and of any committee; and
34.1.3 all proceedings at meetings of the Company, of the holders of any class
of shares in the Company, of the Board and of committees appointed
by the Board or the Shareholders.

34.2

The minutes of all members of the Board shall be kept at the Registered
Office, and shall state the following:
34.2.1 the date and time when the meeting took place;
34.2.2 the participants;
34.2.3 the proceedings at the meeting; and
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34.2.4 whether the decisions were taken unanimously or not, and if not, who
voted for and against.
The minutes shall be signed by the chairman and the Secretary. If the
chairman has not presided over the meeting, the minutes shall be signed by the
Director presiding over the meeting or over the meeting at which the minutes
were approved.
34.3

Shareholders shall only be entitled to see the Register of Directors and
Officers, the Register, the financial information provided for in Bye-Law 38.3
and the minutes of meetings of the Shareholders of the Company.
SECRETARY AND RESIDENT REPRESENTATIVE
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Secretary and Resident Representative
35.1

The Secretary (including one or more deputy or assistant secretaries) and, if
required, the Resident Representative, shall be appointed by the Board at such
remuneration (if any) and upon such terms as it may think fit and any Secretary
and Resident Representative so appointed may be removed by the Board.
The duties of the Secretary and the duties of the Resident Representative shall
be those prescribed by the Companies Acts together with such other duties as
shall from time to time be prescribed by the Board.

35.2

A provision of the Companies Acts or these Bye-Laws requiring or authorising
a thing to be done by or to a Director and the Secretary shall not be satisfied
by its being done by or to the same person acting both as Director and as, or in
the place of, the Secretary.
THE SEAL
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The Seal
36.1

The Board may authorise the production of a common seal of the Company
and one or more duplicate common seals of the Company, which shall consist
of a circular device with the name of the Company around the outer margin
thereof and the country and year of registration in Bermuda across the centre
thereof.

36.2

Any document required to be under seal or executed as a deed on behalf of
the Company may be:
36.2.1 executed under the Seal in accordance with these Bye-Laws; or
36.2.2 signed or executed by any person authorised by the Board for that
purpose, without the use of the Seal.

36.3

The Board shall provide for the custody of every Seal. A Seal shall only be
used by authority of the Board or of a committee constituted by the Board.
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Subject to these Bye-Laws, any instrument to which a Seal is affixed shall be
attested by the signature of:
36.3.1 a Director; or
36.3.2 the Secretary; or
36.3.3 any one person authorised by the Board for that purpose.
DIVIDENDS AND OTHER PAYMENTS
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Dividends and Other Payments
37.1

The Board may from time to time declare dividends or distributions out of
contributed surplus to be paid to the Shareholders according to their rights and
interests, including such interim dividends as appear to the Board to be justified
by the position of the Company. The Board, in its discretion, may determine
that any dividend shall be paid in cash or shall be satisfied, subject to Bye-Law
39, in paying up in full shares in the Company to be issued to the Shareholders
credited as fully paid or partly paid or partly in one way and partly the other.
The Board may also pay any fixed cash dividend which is payable on any
shares of the Company half yearly or on such other dates, whenever the
position of the Company, in the opinion of the Board, justifies such payment.

37.2

Except insofar as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share
otherwise provide:
37.2.1 all dividends or distributions out of contributed surplus may be declared
and paid according to the amounts paid up on the shares in respect of
which the dividend or distribution is paid, and an amount paid up on a
share in advance of calls may be treated for the purpose of this ByeLaw as paid-up on the share;
37.2.2 dividends or distributions out of contributed surplus may be
apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid-up on the
shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which
the dividend or distribution is paid.
37.3

The Board may deduct from any dividend, distribution or other
monies payable to a Shareholder by the Company on or in respect of
any shares all sums of money (if any) presently payable by him to the
Company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the
Company.

37.4

No dividend, distribution or other monies payable by the Company on or in
respect of any share shall bear interest against the Company.

37.5

Any dividend, distribution or interest, or part thereof payable in cash, or any
other sum payable in cash to the holder of shares may be paid by bank transfer
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to the holder’s bank account registered in the Register or by cheque or
warrant sent through the post or by courier addressed to the holder at his
address in the Register or, in the case of joint holders, addressed to the holder
whose name stands first in the Register in respect of the shares at his registered
address as appearing in the Register or addressed to such person at such address
as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct. Every such cheque or
warrant shall, unless the holder or joint holders otherwise direct, be made
payable to the order of the holder or, in the case of joint holders, to the order
of the holder whose name stands first in the Register in respect of such shares,
and shall be sent at his or their risk and payment of the cheque or warrant by
the bank on which it is drawn shall constitute a good discharge to the
Company. Any one of two (2) or more joint holders may give effectual
receipts for any dividends, distributions or other monies payable or property
distributable in respect of the shares held by such joint holders.
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37.6

Any dividend or distribution out of contributed surplus unclaimed for a period
of six (6) years from the date of declaration of such dividend or distribution
shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company and the payment by the
Board of any unclaimed dividend, distribution, interest or other sum payable
on or in respect of the share into a separate account shall not constitute the
Company a trustee in respect thereof.

37.7

The Board may also, in addition to its other powers, direct payment or
satisfaction of any dividend or distribution out of contributed surplus wholly or
in part by the distribution of specific assets, and in particular of paid-up shares or
debentures of any other company, and where any difficulty arises in regard to
such distribution or dividend, the Board may settle it as it thinks expedient, and
in particular, may authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may
ignore fractions altogether, and may fix the value for distribution or dividend
purposes of any such specific assets and may determine that cash payments shall
be made to any Shareholders upon the footing of the values so fixed in order to
secure equality of distribution and may vest any such specific assets in trustees as
may seem expedient to the Board, provided that such dividend or distribution
may not be satisfied by the distribution of any partly paid shares or debentures of
any company without the sanction of a Resolution.

Reserves
The Board may, before declaring any dividend or distribution out of contributed
surplus, set aside such sums as it thinks proper as reserves which shall, at the discretion
of the Board, be applicable for any purpose of the Company and pending such
application may, also at such discretion, either be employed in the business of the
Company or be invested in such investments as the Board may from time to time
think fit. The Board may also without placing the same to reserve carry forward any
sums which it may think it prudent not to distribute.
CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS

39

39

Capitalisation of Profits
39.1

The Board may from time to time resolve to capitalise all or any part of any
amount for the time being standing to the credit of any reserve or fund which
is available for distribution or to the credit of any share premium account and
accordingly that such amount be set free for distribution amongst the
Shareholders or any class of Shareholders who would be entitled thereto if
distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions, on the footing
that the same be not paid in cash but be applied either in or towards paying up
amounts for the time being unpaid on any shares in the Company held by such
Shareholders respectively or in payment up in full of unissued shares,
debentures or other obligations of the Company, to be allotted and distributed
credited as fully paid amongst such Shareholders, or partly in one way and
partly in the other, provided that for the purpose of this Bye-Law, a share
premium account may be applied only in paying up of unissued shares to be
issued to such Shareholders credited as fully paid.

39.2

Where any difficulty arises in regard to any distribution under this Bye-Law,
the Board may settle the same as it thinks expedient and, in particular, may
authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may resolve that the
distribution should be as nearly as may be practicable in the correct proportion
but not exactly so or may ignore fractions altogether, and may determine that
cash payments should be made to any Shareholders in order to adjust the rights
of all parties, as may seem expedient to the Board. The Board may appoint
any person to sign on behalf of the persons entitled to participate in the
distribution any contract necessary or desirable for giving effect thereto and
such appointment shall be effective and binding upon the Shareholders.
RECORD DATES
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Record Dates
Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Bye-Laws, the Company may fix by
Resolution, or the Board may fix, any date as the record date for any dividend,
distribution, allotment or issue and for the purpose of identifying the persons entitled
to receive notices of any general meeting. Any such record date may be on or at any
time before any date on which such dividend, distribution, allotment or issue is
declared, paid (save that a record date with respect to the declaration or payment of a
dividend may not be fixed for any time before the date on which either the Board or
the Company by Resolution, resolves to authorize such declaration or payment) or
made.
40.1

In relation to any general meeting of the Company or of any class of
Shareholder or to any adjourned meeting or any poll taken at a meeting or
adjourned meeting of which notice is given, the Board may specify in the
notice of meeting or adjourned meeting or in any document sent to
Shareholders by or on behalf of the Board in relation to the meeting, a time
and date (a “record date”) which is not more than five (5) days before the date
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fixed for the meeting (the “meeting date”) and, notwithstanding any provision
in these Bye-Laws to the contrary, in such case:
40.1.1 each person entered in the Register at the record date as a Shareholder,
or a Shareholder of the relevant class, (a “record date holder”) shall be
entitled to attend and to vote at the relevant meeting and to exercise all
of the rights or privileges of a Shareholder, or a Shareholder of the
relevant class, in relation to that meeting in respect of the shares, or the
shares of the relevant class, registered in his name at the record date;
40.1.2 as regards any shares, or shares of the relevant class, which are registered
in the name of a record date holder at the record date but are not so
registered at the meeting date (“relevant shares”), each holder of any
relevant shares at the meeting date shall be deemed to have irrevocably
appointed that record date holder as his proxy for the purpose of
attending and voting in respect of those relevant shares at the relevant
meeting (with power to appoint, or to authorise the appointment of,
some other person as proxy), in such manner as the record date holder
in his absolute discretion may determine; and
40.1.3 accordingly, except through his proxy pursuant to Bye-Law 40.1.2
above, a holder of relevant shares at the meeting date, who is not a
record date holder, shall not be entitled to attend or to vote at the
relevant meeting, or to exercise any of the rights or privileges of a
Shareholder, or a Shareholder of the relevant class, in respect of the
relevant shares at that meeting.
40.2

The entry of the name of a person in the Register as a record date holder shall be
sufficient evidence of his appointment as proxy in respect of any relevant shares
for the purposes of this paragraph, but all the provisions of these Bye-Laws
relating to the execution and deposit of an instrument appointing a proxy or any
ancillary matter (including the Board’s powers and discretions relevant to such
matter) shall apply to any instrument appointing any person other than the
record date holder as proxy in respect of any relevant shares.
ACCOUNTING RECORDS
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Accounting Records
41.1

The Board shall cause to be kept accounting records sufficient to give a true
and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs and to show and explain its
transactions, in accordance with the Companies Acts.

41.2

The records of account shall be kept at the Registered Office or at such other
place or places as the Board thinks fit, and shall at all times be open to
inspection by the Directors, PROVIDED that if the records of account are
kept at some place outside Bermuda, there shall be kept at an office of the
Company in Bermuda such records as will enable the Directors to ascertain
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with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Company at the end of
each three (3) month period. No Shareholder (other than an Officer of the
Company) shall have any right to inspect any accounting record or book or
document of the Company except as conferred by law or authorised by the
Board or by Resolution.
41.3

A copy of every balance sheet and statement of income and expenditure,
including every document required by law to be annexed thereto, which is to
be laid before the Company in general meeting, together with a copy of the
auditors' report, shall be sent to each person entitled thereto in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Acts.
AUDIT
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Audit
Save and to the extent that an audit is waived in the manner permitted by the
Companies Acts, auditors shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance
with the Companies Acts, any other applicable law and such requirements not
inconsistent with the Companies Acts as the Board may from time to time determine.
SERVICE OF NOTICES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS
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Service of Notices and Other Documents
43.1

Any notice or other document (including but not limited to a share certificate,
any notice of a general meeting of the Company, any instrument of proxy and
any document to be sent in accordance with Bye-Law 38.3) may be sent to,
served on or delivered to any Shareholder by the Company:
43.1.1 personally;
43.1.2 by sending it through the post (by airmail where applicable) in a prepaid letter addressed to such Shareholder at his address as appearing in
the Register;
43.1.3 by sending it by courier to or leaving it at the Shareholder’s address
appearing in the Register;
43.1.4 by, where applicable, sending it by email or facsimile or other mode of
representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form
or by sending an electronic record of it by electronic means, in each
case to an address or number supplied by such Shareholder for the
purposes of communication in such manner; or
43.1.5 by publication of an electronic record of it on a website and
notification of such publication (which shall include the address of the
website, the place on the website where the document may be found,
and how the document may be accessed on the website) by any of the
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methods set out in paragraphs 43.1.1, 43.1.2, 43.1.3 or 43.1.4 of this
Bye-Law, in accordance with the Companies Acts.
In the case of joint holders of a share, service or delivery of any notice or other
document on or to one of the joint holders shall for all purposes be deemed as
sufficient service on or delivery to all the joint holders.
43.2

Any notice or other document shall be deemed to have been served on or
delivered to any Shareholder by the Company:
43.2.1 if sent by personal delivery, at the time of delivery;
43.2.2 if sent by post, forty-eight (48) hours after it was put in the post;
43.2.3 if sent by courier or facsimile, twenty-four (24) hours after sending;
43.2.4 if sent by email or other mode of representing or reproducing words in
a legible and non-transitory form or as an electronic record by
electronic means, twelve (12) hours after sending; or
43.2.5 if published as an electronic record on a website, at the time that the
notification of such publication shall be deemed to have been delivered
to such Shareholder,
and in proving such service or delivery, it shall be sufficient to prove that the
notice or document was properly addressed and stamped and put in the post,
published on a website in accordance with the Companies Acts and the
provisions of these Bye-Laws, or sent by courier, facsimile, email or as an
electronic record by electronic means, as the case may be, in accordance with
these Bye-Laws.
Each Shareholder and each person becoming a Shareholder subsequent to the
adoption of these Bye-laws, by virtue of its holding or its acquisition and
continued holding of a share, as applicable, shall be deemed to have
acknowledged and agreed that any notice or other document (excluding a
share certificate) may be provided by the Company by way of accessing them
on a website instead of being provided by other means.

43.3

If any time, by reason of the suspension or curtailment of postal services within
Bermuda or any other territory, the Company is unable effectively to convene
a general meeting by notices sent through the post, a general meeting may be
convened by a notice advertised in at least one national newspaper published in
the territory concerned and such notice shall be deemed to have been duly
served on each person entitled to receive it in that territory on the day, or on
the first day, on which the advertisement appears. In any such case the
Company shall send confirmatory copies of the notice by post if at least five (5)
clear days before the meeting the posting of notices to addresses throughout
that territory again becomes practicable.
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43.4

Save as otherwise provided, the provisions of these Bye-Laws as to service of
notices and other documents on Shareholders shall mutatis mutandis apply to
service or delivery of notices and other documents to the Company or any
Director, Alternate Director or Resident Representative pursuant to these
Bye-Laws.
DESTRUCTION OF DOCUMENTS
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Destruction Of Documents
The Company shall be entitled to destroy all instruments of transfer of shares which
have been registered and all other documents on the basis of which any entry is made
in the register at any time after the expiration of six (6) years from the date of
registration thereof and all dividends mandates or variations or cancellations thereof
and notifications of change of address at any time after the expiration of two (2) years
from the date of recording thereof and all share certificates which have been cancelled
at any time after the expiration of one (1) year from the date of cancellation thereof
and all paid dividend warrants and cheques at any time after the expiration of one (1)
year from the date of actual payment thereof and all instruments of proxy which have
been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after the expiration of one (1) year
from the date of such use and all instruments of proxy which have not been used for
the purpose of a poll at any time after one (1) month from the end of the meeting to
which the instrument of proxy relates and at which no poll was demanded. It shall
conclusively be presumed in favour of the Company that every entry in the register
purporting to have been made on the basis of an instrument of transfer or other
document so destroyed was duly and properly made, that every instrument of transfer
so destroyed was a valid and effective instrument duly and properly registered, that
every share certificate so destroyed was a valid and effective certificate duly and
properly cancelled and that every other document hereinbefore mentioned so
destroyed was a valid and effective document in accordance with the recorded
particulars thereof in the books or records of the Company, provided always that:
44.1

the provisions aforesaid shall apply only to the destruction of a document in
good faith and without notice of any claim (regardless of the parties thereto) to
which the document might be relevant;

44.2

nothing herein contained shall be construed as imposing upon the Company
any liability in respect of the destruction of any such document earlier than as
aforesaid or in any other circumstances which would not attach to the
Company in the absence of this Bye-Law; and

44.3

references herein to the destruction of any document include references to the
disposal thereof in any manner.
UNTRACED SHAREHOLDERS
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Untraced Shareholders
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45.1

The Company shall be entitled to sell, at the best price reasonably obtainable,
the shares of a Shareholder or the shares to which a person is entitled by virtue
of transmission on death, bankruptcy, or otherwise by operation of law if and
provided that:
45.1.1 during a period of six (6) years, no dividend in respect of those shares
has been claimed and at least three (3) cash dividends have become
payable on the share in question;
45.1.2 on or after expiry of that period of six (6) years, the Company has
inserted an advertisement in a newspaper circulating in the area of the
last registered address at which service of notices upon the Shareholder
or person entitled by transmission may be effected in accordance with
these Bye-Laws and in a national newspaper published in the relevant
country, giving notice of its intention to sell such shares:
45.1.3 during that period of six (6) years and the period of three (3) months
following the publication of such advertisement, the Company has not
received any communication from such Shareholder or person entitled
by transmission; and
45.1.4 if so required by the rules of any securities exchange upon which the
shares in question are listed for the time being, notice has been given to
that exchange of the Company’s intention to make such sale.

45.2

If during any six (6) year period referred to in paragraph 45.2 above, further
shares have been issued in respect of those held at the beginning of such period
or of any previously issued during such period and all the other requirements
of this Bye-Law (other than the requirement that they be in issue for six (6)
years) have been satisfied in regard to the further shares, the Company may also
sell the further shares.

45.3

To give effect to any such sale, the Board may authorise some person to
execute an instrument of transfer of the shares sold to, or in accordance with
the directions of, the purchaser and an instrument of transfer executed by that
person shall be as effective as if it had been executed by the holder of, or
person entitled by transmission to, the shares. The transferee shall not be
bound to see to the application of the purchase money, nor shall his title to the
shares be affected by any irregularity in, or invalidity of, the proceedings in
reference to the sale.

45.4

The net proceeds of sale shall belong to the Company which shall be obliged
to account to the former Shareholder or other person previously entitled as
aforesaid for an amount equal to such proceeds and shall enter the name of
such former Shareholder or other person in the books of the Company as a
creditor for such amount. No trust shall be created in respect of the debt, no
interest shall be payable in respect of the same and the Company shall not be
required to account for any money earned on the net proceeds, which may be
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employed in the business of the Company or invested in such investments as
the Board from time to time thinks fit.
WINDING UP
46

Winding Up
If the Company shall be wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of a
Resolution of the Company and any other sanction required by the Companies Acts,
divide amongst the Shareholders in specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets
of the Company (whether they shall consist of property of the same kind or not) and
may for such purposes set such values as he deems fair upon any property to be
divided as aforesaid and may determine how such division shall be carried out as
between the Shareholders or different classes of Shareholders. The liquidator may,
with the like sanction, vest the whole or any part of such assets in trustees upon such
trust for the benefit of the contributories as the liquidator, with the like sanction, shall
think fit, but so that no Shareholder shall be compelled to accept any shares or other
assets upon which there is any liability.
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE
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Indemnity and Insurance
47.1

Subject to the proviso below, every Indemnified Person shall be indemnified
and held harmless out of the assets of the Company against all liabilities, loss,
damage or expense (including but not limited to liabilities under contract, tort
and statute or any applicable foreign law or regulation and all reasonable legal
and other costs and expenses properly payable) incurred or suffered by him by
or by reason of any act done, conceived in or omitted in the conduct of the
Company’s business or in the discharge of his duties and the indemnity
contained in this Bye-Law shall extend to any Indemnified Person acting in
any office or trust in the reasonable belief that he has been appointed or elected
to such office or trust notwithstanding any defect in such appointment or
election PROVIDED ALWAYS that the indemnity contained in this ByeLaw shall not extend to any matter which would render it void pursuant to the
Companies Acts.

47.2

No Indemnified Person shall be liable to the Company for the acts, defaults or
omissions of any other Indemnified Person.

47.3

Every Indemnified Person shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all liabilities incurred by him by or by reason of any act done,
conceived in or omitted in the conduct of the Company’s business or in the
discharge of his duties in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgement is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted, or in
connection with any application under the Companies Acts in which relief
from liability is granted to him by the court.
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47.4

To the extent that any Indemnified Person is entitled to claim an indemnity
pursuant to these Bye-Laws in respect of amounts paid or discharged by him,
the relevant indemnity shall take effect as an obligation of the Company to
reimburse the person making such payment or effecting such discharge.

47.5

Each Shareholder and the Company agree to waive any claim or right of
action he or it may at any time have, whether individually or by or in the right
of the Company, against any Indemnified Person on account of any action
taken by such Indemnified Person or the failure of such Indemnified Person to
take any action in the performance of his duties with or for the Company
PROVIDED HOWEVER that such waiver shall not apply to any claims or
rights of action arising out of the fraud of such Indemnified Person or to
recover any gain, personal profit or advantage to which such Indemnified
Person is not legally entitled.

47.6

Expenses incurred in defending any civil or criminal action or proceeding for
which indemnification is required pursuant to these Bye-Laws shall be paid by
the Company in advance of the final disposition of such action or proceeding
upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnified Person to
repay such amount if any allegation of fraud or dishonesty is proved against the
Indemnified Person PROVIDED THAT no monies shall be paid hereunder
unless payment of the same shall be authorised in the specific case upon a
determination that indemnification of the Director or Officer would be proper
in the circumstances because he has met the standard of conduct which would
entitle him to the indemnification thereby provided and such determination
shall be made:
47.6.1 by the Board, by a majority vote at a meeting duly constituted by a
quorum of Directors not party to the proceedings or matter with regard
to which the indemnification is, or would be, claimed; or
47.6.2 in the case such a meeting cannot be constituted by lack of a
disinterested quorum, by independent legal counsel in a written
opinion; or
47.6.3 by a majority vote of the Shareholders.

47.7

Without prejudice to the provisions of this Bye-Law, the Board shall have the
power to purchase and maintain insurance for or for the benefit of any
Indemnified Person or any persons who are or were at any time Directors,
Officers, employees of the Company, or of any other company which is its
holding company or in which the Company or such holding company has any
interest whether direct or indirect or which is in any way allied to or associated
with the Company, or of any subsidiary undertaking of the Company or any
such other company, or who are or were at any time trustees of any pension
fund in which employees of the Company or any such other company or
subsidiary undertaking are interested, including (without prejudice to the
generality of the foregoing) insurance against any liability incurred by such

47

persons in respect of any act or omission in the actual or purported execution
or discharge of their duties or in the exercise or purported exercise of their
powers or otherwise in relation to their duties, powers or offices in relation to
the Company or any such other company, subsidiary undertaking or pension
fund.
AMALGAMATION
48

Amalgamation
Any resolution proposed for consideration at any general meeting to approve the
amalgamation of the Company with any other company, wherever incorporated, shall
require the approval of two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast at such meeting and the
quorum for such meeting shall be that required in Bye-Law 22.1 and a poll may be
demanded in respect of such resolution in accordance with the provisions of Bye-Law
23.3.
CONTINUATION
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Continuation
Subject to the Companies Acts, the Board may approve the discontinuation of the
Company in Bermuda and the continuation of the Company in a jurisdiction outside
Bermuda. The Board, having resolved to approve the discontinuation of the
Company, may further resolve not to proceed with any application to discontinue the
Company in Bermuda or may vary such application as it sees fit.
ALTERATION OF BYE-LAWS
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Alteration of Bye-Laws
50.1

Subject to Bye-Laws 50.2, these Bye-Laws may be revoked or amended only
by the Board, which may from time to time revoke or amend them in any way
by a resolution of the Board passed by a majority of the Directors then in office
and eligible to vote on that resolution, but no such revocation or amendment
shall be operative unless and until it is approved at a subsequent general
meeting of the Company by the Shareholders by Resolution passed by a
majority of votes cast.

50.2

Where the Board has, by a resolution passed by a majority of the Directors
then in office and eligible to vote on that resolution, approved a revocation or
amendment of Bye-Law 51, the revocation or amendment will not be effective
unless approved by a Resolution of Shareholders holding not less than 80 per
cent of the issued shares of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings at the relevant time.
CHANGE OF NAME

51

Change of Name
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51.1 At such time as the shareholding of Leif Höegh & Co. Ltd. (or any other entity
beneficially owned by the Höegh family) in the Company is below 33.34% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company, at the written request of Leif
Höegh & Co. Ltd., the Company shall, as soon as practicable following the date
of such written request, convene a general meeting of the Company to change
the name of the Company to remove reference to “Höegh” in the name of the
Company AND at such general meeting, the shares held by Leif Höegh & Co.
Ltd. (or any other entity beneficially owned by the Höegh family)shall be
deemed to have the number of votes equalling a multiple of ten (10) times the
entire number of votes cast at such meeting.
DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS IN SHARES
52 Disclosure of Interests in Shares
52.1 Shareholders shall make such notifications to the Company regarding their interests in
shares as they are required to make under all applicable rules and regulations to which
the Company is subject.
52.2 The provisions of Bye-Law 52.1 are in addition to, and separate from, any other
rights or obligations arising under the Companies Acts these Bye-Laws or otherwise.
COMPANY INVESTIGATIONS AND CONSEQUENCES
53 Power of the Company to Investigate Interests in Shares
53.1 The Board has power to serve a notice to require any Shareholder or any other
person it has reasonable cause to believe to be interested in shares (an “Interested
Party”), to disclose to the Company the nature of such interest and any documents
to verify the identity of the Interested Party that the Board deems necessary.
53.2 If at any time the Board is satisfied that any Shareholder or Interested Party, has been
duly served with a notice pursuant to Bye-Law 53.1 (a “Disclosure Notice”) and is
in default for the prescribed period set out in Bye-Law 53.6 in supplying to the
Company the information thereby required, or, in purported compliance with a
Disclosure Notice, has made a statement which is false or inadequate in any material
particular as determined by the Board in its sole discretion, then the Board may, in its
absolute discretion at any time thereafter serve a further notice (a “Direction
Notice”) on the Shareholder who was served with the relevant Disclosure Notice or
on the Shareholder who holds the shares in which the Interested Party who was
served with the relevant Disclosure Notice appears to be interested to direct that:
53.2.1 in respect of the shares in relation to which the default occurred (the “Default
Shares”, which expression includes any shares issued after the date of the
Disclosure Notice in respect of those shares) the Shareholder shall not be entitled
to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at a general meeting or at a
separate meeting of the holders of that class of shares or on a poll; and
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53.2.2 where the Default Shares represent at least 0.25 per cent (in nominal value) of
the issued shares of their class, the Direction Notice may additionally direct that
in respect of the Default Shares:
(i)

any dividend (or any part of a dividend) or other amount payable in
respect of the Default Shares shall be withheld by the Company, which
shall have no obligation to pay interest on it, and such dividend or part
thereof shall only be payable when the Direction Notice ceases to have
effect to the person who would but for the Direction Notice have been
entitled to it; and/or

(ii)

where an offer of the right to elect to receive shares of the Company
instead of cash in respect of any dividend or part thereof is or has been
made by the Company, any election made thereunder by such
Shareholder in respect of such Default Shares shall not be effective;
and/or

(iii) no transfer of any of the shares held by any such Shareholder shall be
recognised or registered by the Board unless: (1) the transfer is an
excepted transfer (as defined in Bye-Law 53.6); or (2) the Shareholder is
not himself in default as regards supplying the requisite information
required under this Bye-Law and, when presented for registration, the
transfer is accompanied by a certificate by the Shareholder in a form
satisfactory to the Board to the effect that after due and careful enquiry
the Shareholder is satisfied that none of the shares, which are the subject
of the transfer, are Default Shares.
53.3 The Company shall send the Direction Notice to each person appearing to be
interested in the Default Shares, but the failure or omission by the Company to do so
shall not invalidate such notice.
53.4 Any Direction Notice shall cease to have effect not more than seven days after the
earlier of receipt by the Company of:
53.4.1 notice that the Default Shares are subject to an excepted transfer (as defined in
Bye-Law 53.6), but only in relation to those Default Shares, which are subject to
such excepted transfer and not to any other shares covered by the same
Direction Notice; or
53.4.2 all the information required by the relevant Disclosure Notice, in a form
satisfactory to the Board.
53.5 The Board may at any time send a notice cancelling a Direction Notice if it
determines in its sole discretion that it is appropriate to do so.
53.6 For the purposes of Bye-Law 52 and 53:
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53.6.1 the prescribed period is 14 days from the date of service of the Disclosure
Notice;
53.6.2 a reference to a person being “interested” or having an “interest” in shares
includes an interest of any kind whatsoever in the shares;
53.6.3 a transfer of shares is an excepted transfer if:
(i)

it is a transfer of shares pursuant to an acceptance of an offer to acquire
all the shares, or all the shares of any class or classes, in the Company
(other than shares, which at the date of the offer are already held by the
offeror), being an offer on terms, which are the same in relation to all
the shares to which the offer relates or, where those shares include
shares of different classes, in relation to all the shares of each class; or

(ii)

a transfer, which is shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be made in
consequence of a sale of the whole of the beneficial interest in the
shares to a person who is not connected with the Shareholder who has
been served with the Disclosure Notice and with any other person
appearing to be interested in the Default Shares; or

(iii)

a transfer in consequence of a bona fide sale made on the Oslo Børs.

53.7 The Company shall maintain a register of Interested Parties and, whenever in
pursuance of a requirement imposed on a Shareholder or an Interested Party, the
Company is informed of an Interested Party, the identity of the Interested Party and
the nature of the interest shall be promptly inscribed therein together with the date of
the request.
53.8 The Board shall be required to exercise their powers under Bye-Law 53.1 on the
requisition of Shareholders of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less that 10 per cent, of such of the paid-up capital of the Company as
carries at that date the right to vote at the general meetings of the Company.
53.9 A requisition made pursuant to Bye-Law 53.8 must:
53.9.1 state that the requisitionists are requiring the Company to exercise its powers
under this Bye-Law 53;
53.9.2 specify the manner in which they require those powers to be exercised;
53.9.3 give reasonable grounds for requiring the Company to exercise those powers in
the manner specified; and
53.9.4 be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s Registered
Office.
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53.10 The requisition may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists.
53.11 On the deposit of a requisition complying with Bye-Laws 53.8 and 53.9, it is the
Board’s duty to exercise its power in the manner specified in the requisition.
53.12 Where a person who appears to be interested in shares has been served with a notice
pursuant to Bye-Law 53.1, and the shares in which he appears to be interested are
held by a depositary or a nominee approved as such by the Board (an “Approved
Depository” and an “Approved Nominee” respectively), the provisions of ByeLaw 53.1 will be treated as applying only to the shares, which are held by the
Approved Depositary or Approved Nominee in which that person appears to be
interested and not (so far as that person’s apparent interest in concerned) to any other
shares held by the Approved Depositary or Approved Nominee.
53.13 While the Shareholder on which a notice pursuant to Bye-Law 53.1 is served is an
Approved Depositary or Approved Nominee, the obligations of the Approved
Depositary or Approved Nominee as a Shareholder will be limited to disclosing to the
Company any information relating to a person who appears to be interested in the
shares held by it, which has been recorded by it in accordance with the arrangement
under which it was appointed as an Approved Depositary or Approved Nominee by
the Board.
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